Final Proposed Filing - Coversheet

Instructions:

In accordance with Title 3 Chapter 25 of the Vermont Statutes Annotated and the "Rule on Rulemaking" adopted by the Office of the Secretary of State, this filing will be considered complete upon filing and acceptance of these forms with the Office of the Secretary of State, and the Legislative Committee on Administrative Rules.

All forms shall be submitted at the Office of the Secretary of State, no later than 3:30 pm on the last scheduled day of the work week.

The data provided in text areas of these forms will be used to generate a notice of rulemaking in the portal of "Proposed Rule Postings" online, and the newspapers of record if the rule is marked for publication. Publication of notices will be charged back to the promulgating agency.

PLEASE REMOVE ANY COVERSHEET OR FORM NOT REQUIRED WITH THE CURRENT FILING BEFORE DELIVERY!

Certification Statement: As the adopting Authority of this rule (see 3 V.S.A. § 801 (b) (11) for a definition), I approve the contents of this filing entitled:

Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy	7
/s/ Julia S. Moore	on_12/5/2025
(signature)	(date)
Printed Name and Title: Julia S. Moore, PE, Secretary ANR	
	RECEIVED BY:
☐ Coversheet ☐ Adopting Page	
 □ Economic Impact Analysis □ Environmental Impact Analysis □ Strategy for Maximizing Public Input □ Scientific Information Statement (if applicable) 	
 ☐ Incorporated by Reference Statement (if applicable) ☐ Clean text of the rule (Amended text without annotation) ☐ Annotated text (Clearly marking changes from previous rule) ☐ ICAR Minutes 	
☐ Copy of Comments ☐ Responsiveness Summary	

1. TITLE OF RULE FILING:

Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy

2. PROPOSED NUMBER ASSIGNED BY THE SECRETARY OF STATE 25P 036

3. ADOPTING AGENCY:

Agency of Natural Resources

4. PRIMARY CONTACT PERSON:

(A PERSON WHO IS ABLE TO ANSWER QUESTIONS ABOUT THE CONTENT OF THE RULE).

Name: Matt Chapman

Agency: Natural Resources

Mailing Address: 1 National Life Drive, Davis 1

Telephone: 802-249-4393 Fax:

E-Mail: matt.chapman@vermont.gov

Web URL (WHERE THE RULE WILL BE POSTED):

5. SECONDARY CONTACT PERSON:

(A SPECIFIC PERSON FROM WHOM COPIES OF FILINGS MAY BE REQUESTED OR WHO MAY ANSWER QUESTIONS ABOUT FORMS SUBMITTED FOR FILING IF DIFFERENT FROM THE PRIMARY CONTACT PERSON).

Name: Bryan Redmond

Agency: Natural Resources

Mailing Address: 1 National Life Drive, Davis 4

Telephone: 802-585-4800 Fax:

E-Mail: bryan.redmond@vermont.gov

6. RECORDS EXEMPTION INCLUDED WITHIN RULE:

(DOES THE RULE CONTAIN ANY PROVISION DESIGNATING INFORMATION AS CONFIDENTIAL; LIMITING ITS PUBLIC RELEASE; OR OTHERWISE, EXEMPTING IT FROM INSPECTION AND COPYING?) No

IF YES, CITE THE STATUTORY AUTHORITY FOR THE EXEMPTION:

PLEASE SUMMARIZE THE REASON FOR THE EXEMPTION:

7. LEGAL AUTHORITY / ENABLING LEGISLATION:

(THE SPECIFIC STATUTORY OR LEGAL CITATION FROM SESSION LAW INDICATING WHO THE ADOPTING ENTITY IS AND THUS WHO THE SIGNATORY SHOULD BE. THIS SHOULD BE A SPECIFIC CITATION NOT A CHAPTER CITATION).

10 V.S.A 1392(d)

- 8. EXPLANATION OF HOW THE RULE IS WITHIN THE AUTHORITY OF THE AGENCY:
 - 10 V.S.A. 1392 requires the adoption of standards to protect groundwater quality and that plan is to be adopted by rule.
- 9. THE FILING HAS NOT CHANGED SINCE THE FILING OF THE PROPOSED RULE.
- 10. THE AGENCY HAS NOT INCLUDED WITH THIS FILING A LETTER EXPLAINING IN DETAIL WHAT CHANGES WERE MADE, CITING CHAPTER AND SECTION WHERE APPLICABLE.
- 11. SUBSTANTIAL ARGUMENTS AND CONSIDERATIONS WERE NOT RAISED FOR OR AGAINST THE ORIGINAL PROPOSAL.
- 12. THE AGENCY HAS INCLUDED COPIES OF ALL WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS AND SYNOPSES OF ORAL COMMENTS RECEIVED.
- 13. THE AGENCY HAS INCLUDED A LETTER EXPLAINING IN DETAIL THE REASONS FOR THE AGENCY'S DECISION TO REJECT OR ADOPT THEM.
- 14. CONCISE SUMMARY (150 WORDS OR LESS):

The Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy is the framework the state uses to protect groundwater in permit programs and clean up groundwater when there is a release. This amendment proposes to adopt more stringent standards adopted by EPA's 2024 Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) for five PFAS compounds (HFPODA, PFHxS, PFNA, PFOS, and PFOA) and a hazard index to address mixtures of two or more identified PFAS (HFPODA, PFBS, PFNA, PFHxS). This amendment proposes to not require the permitting review to apply to stormwater, indirect discharge (sewage), or wastewater and potable water supply (wastewater) rules and those progams would address the public trust and groundwater protection in their respective rules. It also makes minor changes to how compliance boundaries are established for cleanups.

15. EXPLANATION OF WHY THE RULE IS NECESSARY:

The State currently has a 20 ppt standard for five PFAS compounds (PFHxS, PFHpA, PFNA, PFOS, and PFOA) individually or combined, however since the adoption of this standard science and our understanding of the risk associated with PFAS shows that it is harmful at levels much lower than the current 20 ppt value. The proposed

rule aligns the state with EPA's 2024 MCL. The proposed rule also excludes stormwater and wastewater systems and require that those programs manage systems through the use of other tools (e.g. hotspot designations, pollution prevention with users, etc.). This will be done in future amendments to those rules. Impacts by these systems are still subject to the release prohibition for hazardous materials and impacts would have to be addressed by the system. There are currently over 300 known potable water supply wells that have PFOA or PFOS at concentrations between 4 ppt (new standard) and 19 ppt. Additional sampling is expected to discover additional wells above the standard.

16. EXPLANATION OF HOW THE RULE IS NOT ARBITRARY:

This rule is supported by a significant federal rulemaking process. The proposed rule was also developed giving consideration to the updated Vermont Health Advisory that recognizes adverse health impacts from PFAS at very low concentrations.

17. LIST OF PEOPLE, ENTERPRISES AND GOVERNMENT ENTITIES AFFECTED BY THIS RULE:

Persons who hold an underground injection permit, indirect discharge permit (nonsewage), land apply biosolids and who discharge PFAS to groundwater as a part of that permit. It also applies to persons who release PFAS to the environment and impact potable water supplies and groundwater. Specifically, this will impact areas of the state with known PFAS impacts (Bennington, Pownal, and others) where responsible persons will need to address the impacts to new standards.

18. BRIEF SUMMARY OF ECONOMIC IMPACT (150 words or Less):

This rule will adopt more stringent standards for PFAS. As a result, more people who have released PFAS into the environment will be responsible for addressing impacts associated with the releases. In addition, more people exposed to PFAS contamination will have that contamination treated, resulting in better health and well being outcomes for those people.

19. A HEARING WAS HELD.

20. HEARING INFORMATION

(THE FIRST HEARING SHALL BE NO SOONER THAN 30 DAYS FOLLOWING THE POSTING OF NOTICES ONLINE).

IF THIS FORM IS INSUFFICIENT TO LIST THE INFORMATION FOR EACH HEARING, PLEASE ATTACH A SEPARATE SHEET TO COMPLETE THE HEARING INFORMATION.

Date:

11/4/2025

Time:

03:00 PM

Street Address: 1 National Life Drive, Davis Building,

Catamount Conference Room

Zip Code:

05602

URL for Virtual: https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NTMOMTRiMTEtZjIyNi00N2JlLWE0NTYtN2UzNzNmMmU3MGY0%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2220b4933b-baad-433c-9c02-

70edcc7559c6%22%2c%220id%22%3a%22962624da-7373-46bd-8c7d-c7d40a984bf8%22%7d

Date:		
Time:	AM	•
Street Address:		
Zip Code:		
URL for Virtual:		
•		
Date:		
Time:	AM	
Street Address:		
Zip Code:		
URL for Virtual:		
Date:		
Time:	AM	
Street Address:		
Zip Code:		+1

21. DEADLINE FOR COMMENT (NO EARLIER THAN 7 DAYS FOLLOWING LAST HEARING):

URL for Virtual:

11/14/2025

KEYWORDS (PLEASE PROVIDE AT LEAST 3 KEYWORDS OR PHRASES TO AID IN THE SEARCHABILITY OF THE RULE NOTICE ONLINE).

PFAS

Groundwater

Drinking Water

Adopting Page

Instructions:

This form must accompany each filing made during the rulemaking process:

Note: To satisfy the requirement for an annotated text, an agency must submit the entire rule in annotated form with proposed and final proposed filings. Filing an annotated paragraph or page of a larger rule is not sufficient. Annotation must clearly show the changes to the rule.

When possible, the agency shall file the annotated text, using the appropriate page or pages from the Code of Vermont Rules as a basis for the annotated version. New rules need not be accompanied by an annotated text.

- TITLE OF RULE FILING: Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy
- 2. ADOPTING AGENCY: Agency of Natural Resources
- 3. TYPE OF FILING (PLEASE CHOOSE THE TYPE OF FILING FROM THE DROPDOWN MENU BASED ON THE DEFINITIONS PROVIDED BELOW):
 - **AMENDMENT** Any change to an already existing rule, even if it is a complete rewrite of the rule, it is considered an amendment if the rule is replaced with other text.
 - **NEW RULE** A rule that did not previously exist even under a different name.
 - **REPEAL** The removal of a rule in its entirety, without replacing it with other text.

This filing is AN AMENDMENT OF AN EXISTING RULE

4. LAST ADOPTED (PLEASE PROVIDE THE SOS LOG#, TITLE AND EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE LAST ADOPTION FOR THE EXISTING RULE):

19-027 Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy July 6, 2019.

Economic Impact Analysis

Instructions:

In completing the economic impact analysis, an agency analyzes and evaluates the anticipated costs and benefits to be expected from adoption of the rule; estimates the costs and benefits for each category of people enterprises and government entities affected by the rule; compares alternatives to adopting the rule; and explains their analysis concluding that rulemaking is the most appropriate method of achieving the regulatory purpose. If no impacts are anticipated, please specify "No impact anticipated" in the field.

Rules affecting or regulating schools or school districts must include cost implications to local school districts and taxpayers in the impact statement, a clear statement of associated costs, and consideration of alternatives to the rule to reduce or ameliorate costs to local school districts while still achieving the objectives of the rule (see 3 V.S.A. § 832b for details).

Rules affecting small businesses (excluding impacts incidental to the purchase and payment of goods and services by the State or an agency thereof), must include ways that a business can reduce the cost or burden of compliance or an explanation of why the agency determines that such evaluation isn't appropriate, and an evaluation of creative, innovative or flexible methods of compliance that would not significantly impair the effectiveness of the rule or increase the risk to the health, safety, or welfare of the public or those affected by the rule.

1. TITLE OF RULE FILING:

Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy

2. ADOPTING AGENCY:

Agency of Natural Resources

3. CATEGORY OF AFFECTED PARTIES:

LIST CATEGORIES OF PEOPLE, ENTERPRISES, AND GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES POTENTIALLY AFFECTED BY THE ADOPTION OF THIS RULE AND THE ESTIMATED COSTS AND BENEFITS ANTICIPATED:

Persons who hold an underground injection permit, indirect discharge permit (nonsewage), land apply biosolids and who discharge PFAS to groundwater as a part of that permit. It also applies to persons who release PFAS to the environment and impact potable water supplies and groundwater. Specifically, this will impact areas of the state with known PFAS impacts

(Bennington, Pownal, and others) where responsible persons will need to address the impacts to new standards. This will result in a more health protective groundwater standard that will result in better health outcomes.

4. IMPACT ON SCHOOLS:

INDICATE ANY IMPACT THAT THE RULE WILL HAVE ON PUBLIC EDUCATION, PUBLIC SCHOOLS, LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICTS AND/OR TAXPAYERS CLEARLY STATING ANY ASSOCIATED COSTS:

None.

5. ALTERNATIVES: Consideration of alternatives to the rule to reduce or ameliorate costs to local school districts while still achieving the objective of the rule.

None.

6. IMPACT ON SMALL BUSINESSES:

INDICATE ANY IMPACT THAT THE RULE WILL HAVE ON SMALL BUSINESSES (EXCLUDING IMPACTS INCIDENTAL TO THE PURCHASE AND PAYMENT OF GOODS AND SERVICES BY THE STATE OR AN AGENCY THEREOF):

This rule is unlikely to have significant impacts on small business. Five PFAS compounds are currently regulated as a groundwater enforcement standard. This proposed rule aligns the standards with the Federal and State drinking water standard. If a small business uses and releases PFAS into the environment they have an obligation to investigate and address the impacts of that release.

7. SMALL BUSINESS COMPLIANCE: EXPLAIN WAYS A BUSINESS CAN REDUCE THE COST/BURDEN OF COMPLIANCE OR AN EXPLANATION OF WHY THE AGENCY DETERMINES THAT SUCH EVALUATION ISN'T APPROPRIATE.

Costs of responding to PFAS can be extensive. The State of Minnesota has estimated that the costs of remediating one pound of PFAS released into the environment ranges from \$400K to \$39M depending on the matrix and location of the PFAS. The best alternative is to identify ways to eliminate PFAS from processes and use alternative products. The ANR has been leading efforts to identify products that should have PFAS phased out in their production and is hiring a

pollution prevention specialist to assist buisinesses in identifying alternatives to PFAS.

8. COMPARISON:

COMPARE THE IMPACT OF THE RULE WITH THE ECONOMIC IMPACT OF OTHER ALTERNATIVES TO THE RULE, INCLUDING NO RULE ON THE SUBJECT OR A RULE HAVING SEPARATE REQUIREMENTS FOR SMALL BUSINESS:

This rule is aligned with the final Vermont Drinking Water Standard and 2024 federal MCL. Adopting an alternate standard would would create regulatory uncertainty as to what standard applies and would result in a cost shift away from people using PFAS containing materials to people impacted by PFAS containing materials. From a purely economic perspective, product substitution (to a PFAS free product) is the most cost effective way to address PFAS contamination. As noted above, ANR is enhancing the resources available at the Agency to assist businesses in identifying alternatives to PFAS and other emerging contaminants.

9. SUFFICIENCY: DESCRIBE HOW THE ANALYSIS WAS CONDUCTED, IDENTIFYING RELEVANT INTERNAL AND/OR EXTERNAL SOURCES OF INFORMATION USED.

PFAS National Primary Drinking Water Regulation, 89 FR 325332 (4/26/24); Economic Analysis for the Final Perand Polyfluoroalkyl Substances National Primary Drinking Water Regulation, https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2024-04/pfas-npdwr_final-rule_ea.pdf (2024); Evaluation of Current Alternatives and Estimated Cost Curves for PFAS Removal and Destruction from Municipal Wastewater, Biosolids, Landfill Leachate, and Compost Contact Water, Minnesota Pollution Control Agency, https://www.pca.state.mn.us/sites/default/files/c-pfc1-26.pdf (2023)

Environmental Impact Analysis

Instructions:

In completing the environmental impact analysis, an agency analyzes and evaluates the anticipated environmental impacts (positive or negative) to be expected from adoption of the rule; compares alternatives to adopting the rule; explains the sufficiency of the environmental impact analysis. If no impacts are anticipated, please specify "No impact anticipated" in the field.

Examples of Environmental Impacts include but are not limited to:

- Impacts on the emission of greenhouse gases
- Impacts on the discharge of pollutants to water
- Impacts on the arability of land
- Impacts on the climate
- Impacts on the flow of water
- Impacts on recreation
- Or other environmental impacts

1. TITLE OF RULE FILING:

Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy

2. ADOPTING AGENCY:

Agency of Natural Resources

- 3. GREENHOUSE GAS: EXPLAIN HOW THE RULE IMPACTS THE EMISSION OF GREENHOUSE GASES (E.G. TRANSPORTATION OF PEOPLE OR GOODS; BUILDING INFRASTRUCTURE; LAND USE AND DEVELOPMENT, WASTE GENERATION, ETC.):

 No expected impact to greenhouse gas emissions
- 4. WATER: EXPLAIN HOW THE RULE IMPACTS WATER (E.G. DISCHARGE / ELIMINATION OF POLLUTION INTO VERMONT WATERS, THE FLOW OF WATER IN THE STATE, WATER QUALITY ETC.):
 - This rule establishes a standard for the discharge of PFAS pollutants to groundwater. This rule is aligned with the federal and state drinking water standards for PFAS.
- 5. LAND: EXPLAIN HOW THE RULE IMPACTS LAND (E.G. IMPACTS ON FORESTRY, AGRICULTURE ETC.):

This change will be more protective of private water supplies and will ensure that people are reducing their exposure to PFAS when drinking water. It will also place appropriate restrictions on certain permitted activities to ensure that they do not adversely affect groundwater.

- 6. RECREATION: EXPLAIN HOW THE RULE IMPACTS RECREATION IN THE STATE: No expected impact to recreation.
- 7. CLIMATE: EXPLAIN HOW THE RULE IMPACTS THE CLIMATE IN THE STATE: No expected impact to climate.
- 8. OTHER: EXPLAIN HOW THE RULE IMPACT OTHER ASPECTS OF VERMONT'S ENVIRONMENT:

 n/a
- 9. SUFFICIENCY: Describe How the Analysis was conducted, identifying Relevant internal and/or external sources of information used. These determinations were made by looking to the narrow scope of Rule revisions proposed. The GWPR&S is limited to regulating groundwater. The narrow revisions speak to the regulation of one set of contaminants, which Vermont already regulates. Regulating a contaminant that is already regulated by the State to a more stringent standard in a groundwater context does not regulate climate, air, recreation activities, or land uses, and the revision does not include provisions that contemplate any of these areas.

Public Input Maximization Plan

Instructions:

Agencies are encouraged to hold hearings as part of their strategy to maximize the involvement of the public in the development of rules. Please complete the form below by describing the agency's strategy for maximizing public input (what it did do, or will do to maximize the involvement of the public).

This form must accompany each filing made during the rulemaking process:

1. TITLE OF RULE FILING:

Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy

2. ADOPTING AGENCY:

Agency of Natural Resources

3. PLEASE DESCRIBE THE AGENCY'S STRATEGY TO MAXIMIZE PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROPOSED RULE, LISTING THE STEPS THAT HAVE BEEN OR WILL BE TAKEN TO COMPLY WITH THAT STRATEGY:

The Agency plans to hold one public meeting with accessibility via Teams.

4. BEYOND GENERAL ADVERTISEMENTS, PLEASE LIST THE PEOPLE AND ORGANIZATIONS THAT HAVE BEEN OR WILL BE INVOLVED IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROPOSED RULE:

In addition to the above referenced organizations, the Vermont Department of Health has been involved in this proposed rulemaking. Beyond this and general advertisements we plan on reaching out to known interested parties (e.g. Saint-Gobain, Casella, Vermont Natural Resource Council, Vermont Public Interest Research Group, and others) to invite their participation in this rulemaking.

Scientific Information Statement

THIS FORM IS ONLY REQUIRED IF THE RULE RELIES ON SCIENTIFIC INFORMATION FOR ITS VALIDITY.

PLEASE REMOVE THIS FORM PRIOR TO DELIVERY IF IT DOES NOT APPLY TO THIS RULE FILING:

Instructions:

In completing the Scientific Information Statement, an agency shall provide a summary of the scientific information including reference to any scientific studies upon which the proposed rule is based, for the purpose of validity.

1. TITLE OF RULE FILING:

Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy

2. ADOPTING AGENCY:

Agency of Natural Resources

3. BRIEF EXPLANATION OF SCIENTIFIC INFORMATION:

The adverse health effects from PFAS occur at significantly lower concentratons than the 2016 PFAS Ground Water Enforcement Standard. This proposed rule revises PFAS standards to make them consistent with federal and state drinking water standards.

4. CITATION OF SOURCE DOCUMENTATION OF SCIENTIFIC INFORMATION:

Vermont PFAS Health Advisiory, Vermont Department of Health.

https://www.healthvermont.gov/sites/default/files/document/env-ecp-general-screening-values-water.pdf, (revised 2024); PFAS National Primary Drinking Water Regulation, 89 FR 325332 (4/26/24); Human Health Toxicity Assessment for Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA), https://www.epa.gov/sdwa/human-health-toxicity-assessment-perfluorooctanoic-acid-pfoa; Human Health Toxicity Assessment for Perfluorooctane Sulfonic Acid

(PFOS) https://www.epa.gov/sdwa/human-health-toxicity-assessment-perfluorooctane-sulfonic-acid-pfos.

5. INSTRUCTIONS ON HOW TO OBTAIN COPIES OF THE SOURCE DOCUMENTS OF THE SCIENTIFIC INFORMATION FROM THE AGENCY OR OTHER PUBLISHING ENTITY:

Web addresses were provided to information above. All information and internally cross referenced information should be available on-line. Information not available may be requested from the Agency of Natural Resources.

Incorporation by Reference

THIS FORM IS ONLY REQUIRED WHEN INCORPORATING MATERIALS BY REFERENCE. PLEASE REMOVE PRIOR TO DELIVERY IF IT DOES NOT APPLY TO THIS RULE FILING:

Instructions:

In completing the incorporation by reference statement, an agency describes any materials that are incorporated into the rule by reference and how to obtain copies.

This form is only required when a rule incorporates materials by referencing another source without reproducing the text within the rule itself (e.g., federal or national standards, or regulations).

Incorporated materials will be maintained and available for inspection by the Agency.

1. TITLE OF RULE FILING:

Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy

2. ADOPTING AGENCY:

Agency of Natural Resources

- 3. DESCRIPTION (DESCRIBE THE MATERIALS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE):
- 4. FORMAL CITATION OF MATERIALS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE:
- 5. OBTAINING COPIES: (EXPLAIN WHERE THE PUBLIC MAY OBTAIN THE MATERIAL(S) IN WRITTEN OR ELECTRONIC FORM, AND AT WHAT COST):
- 6. MODIFICATIONS (Please explain any modification to the incorporated materials e.g., whether only part of the material is adopted and if so, which part(s) are modified):

Run Spell Check

Vermont Agency of Administration

Interagency Committee on Administrative Rules (ICAR) Minutes

Date/Time: September 8, 2025, 2:02 PM

Location: Virtually via Microsoft Teams

Members Present: Chair Nick Kramer, Diane Sherman, Jared Adler, Jennifer

Mojo, John Kessler, Natalie Weill

Members Absent: Michael Obuchowski, Nicole Dubuque

Minutes By: Chrissy Gilhuly

▶ 2:02 p.m. meeting called to order.

- ▶ Review and approval of minutes from the August 11, 2025 meeting.
- ▶ No additions/deletions to agenda. Agenda approved as drafted.
- ▶ No public comments were made.
- Presentation of Proposed Rule with recommended changes on pages to follow.
 - 1) Rules Relating to Ground Water Protection Rule and Strategy, Agency of Natural Resources
 - a. This rule proposes to adopt EPA's 2024 Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) for five PFAS compounds (HFPO-DA, PFHxS, PFNA, PFOS, and PFOA) and a hazard index to address mixtures of two or more identified PFAS (HFPO-DA, PFBS, PFNA, PFHxS). This rule proposes not to require the permitting review to apply to stormwater, indirect discharge (sewage), or wastewater and potable water supply (wastewater) rules and those programs would address the public trust and groundwater protection in their respective rules. It also makes minor changes to how compliance boundaries are established.
- ▶ Rule Regarding the Installation, Construction, Operation, and Aggregation of Energy Storage Facilities, Public Utility Commission. The rule addresses the following:
 - An application-based process for the issuance of a certificate of public good for certain energy storage facilities under the provisions of 30. V.S.A. § 248; and
 - Other requirements for all energy storage facilities that address: (a) interconnection; (b) safety standards; (c) respective duties of distribution utilities, transmission utilities, and energy storage facility owners and operators and energy storage aggregators; (d) participation in wholesale energy markets; and (e) decommissioning.



Vermont Agency of Administration

- Next scheduled meeting is October 13, at 2:00 p.m.
- ▶ 3:04 p.m. meeting adjourned.

To receive this information in an alternative format or for other accessibility requests, please contact:

Agency of Administration ADM.Secretary@vermont.gov, 802-828-3322





November 14, 2025

Vermont Agency of Natural Resources
Department of Environmental Conservation
Attn: Matt Chapman
1 National Life Drive, Davis 1
Montpelier, VT 05620

RE: Comments on Proposed Amendment to the Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy

Dear Mr. Chapman:

Casella Waste Systems, Inc. ("Casella") appreciates the opportunity to provide comments on the proposed amendment to the Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy, filed September 23, 2025. As a major stakeholder in waste services, we support the Agency's longstanding commitment to protecting Vermont's groundwater resources and ensuring that regulatory standards are grounded in sound science and effective public policy.

While Casella fully supports the goal of updating groundwater standards to reflect current understanding of PFAS risk, we respectfully urge the Agency to defer adoption of this proposed rule until the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has formally and finally adopted its National Primary Drinking Water Regulation (NPDWR) for per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS).

The proposed rule references EPA's "2024 Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL)" values for several PFAS compounds and a hazard index as the scientific basis for Vermont's revised standards. However, under a current litigation matter in the D.C. Circuit court, EPA is seeking to vacate four of the standards, retaining two of the standards, but seeking delay of their implementation until 2031. Since these values are currently being scrutinized through judicial action, and EPA does not support their current implementation as binding federal standards under the Safe Drinking Water Act, adopting these values at the state level risks potential inconsistencies if EPA modifies the MCLs or hazard index, something that is likely to occur. Proceeding before EPA's rule is no longer an item of contention, could require Vermont to reopen and revise its own rule-making shortly thereafter, creating regulatory confusion and unnecessary administrative burden.

From a practical standpoint, premature adoption of EPA accepted federal values could also result in significant compliance uncertainty for regulated entities. Casella's Vermont facilities, specifically the single active landfill and multiple closed landfills, already conduct comprehensive groundwater monitoring and PFAS sampling as part of their certification and compliance programs. Implementing new groundwater standards criteria could



impose obligations that may change once the D.C. Circuit Court has made a final ruling, which will determine the pathway which EPA must take regarding the rule. Waiting for final judicial and EPA action will allow Vermont to ensure that its groundwater standards are based on fully vetted toxicological data, validated analytical methods, and clear implementation guidance.

Vermont has a well-established record of maintaining consistency with finalized EPA standards to promote clarity, scientific defensibility, and fairness in regulation. Aligning the Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy with EPA's final PFAS MCL's will ensure that Vermont's groundwater framework remains stable, credible, and enforceable.

Casella appreciates the Department's transparent process and commitment to stakeholder engagement on this issue. We encourage the Agency to wait until EPA's PFAS rule-making is formally adopted before finalizing the state amendments, to ensure regulatory alignment and consistency across all environmental programs.

Thank you for your consideration and for the opportunity to provide these comments. Casella looks forward to continued collaboration with the Department to achieve effective, science-based groundwater protection across Vermont.

Should you have any additional questions, please do not hesitate to contact me at (802) 772-6205 or Kelly.gleason@casella.com.

Sincerely,

Kelly Gleason, Environmental Manager Permits, Compliance & Engineering

Casella Waste Systems, Inc.



November, 14 2025

Matt Chapman, Director
Waste Management Division (WMD)
Vermont Department of Environmental Conservation (DEC)
1 National Life Drive, Davis 2
Montpelier, VT 05620-3901

VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL

Re: Proposed Amendments to the Vermont Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy (GWPRS)

Dear Director Chapman:

The Vermont Natural Resources Council (VNRC), Conservation Law Foundation (CLF), and the Vermont Public Interest Research Group (VPIRG) appreciate the opportunity to comment on DEC's proposed amendments to Vermont's Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy. We strongly support DEC's proposal to adopt more stringent standards for levels of certain PFAS chemicals in groundwater. However, we view this as an important but insufficient step to protect Vermonters from the public health and environmental risks posed by PFAS chemicals in groundwater and drinking water. In order to protect Vermonters from the risks posed by PFAS,

¹ Specifically, the proposed rule adopts EPA's 2024 Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) for five PFAS compounds (HFPO-DA, PFHxS, PFNA, PFOS, and PFOA) and a hazard index to address mixtures of two or more identified PFAS (HFPO-DA, PFBS, PFNA, PFHxS).

DEC should adopt limits for the entire class of PFAS chemicals in the GWPRS and the Vermont Water Supply Rule (WSR).²

PFAS chemicals are a public health perfect storm because they (1) are extremely persistent; (2) tend to be highly mobile in the environment; (3) can bioaccumulate; (4) can be toxic in small concentrations; (5) are used in hundreds of different industrial and commercial processes and found in a wide variety of consumer products; and (6) there are over 12,000 different kinds of these dangerous chemicals. PFAS include presumed carcinogens and have been linked to a variety of severe health problems, including learning disorders in infants and children, fertility and pregnancy issues, and impaired liver, thyroid, pancreatic, and immune function.³ Alarmingly, epidemiological studies identify the immune system as a target of PFAS toxicity.⁴ Some studies have found decreased antibody response to vaccines, and associations between blood serum PFAS levels and immune system hypersensitivity (asthma) and autoimmune disorders (ulcerative colitis).⁵

PFAS have been found at unsafe levels in the environment throughout Vermont, including in more than 100 public water supplies, private drinking water wells, groundwater, and surface waters. Drinking water contaminated with PFAS is a significant source of exposure. In addition to PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, PFHpA, PFNA, at least the following PFAS are present in Vermont: PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA, PFTA, PFTrDA, PFBS, PFPeS, PFHpS, PFNS, PFDS, PFDoS, PFOSA, HFPO-DA or GenX, NEtFOSAA, NMeFOSSA; 4:2 FTS, 6:2 FTS, and 8:2 FTS. This most likely does not reflect all PFAS present in the State due to limited testing. Without a groundwater and drinking water standard for additional PFAS beyond the five PFAS proposed to be regulated, public water systems in Vermont will not be required to regularly monitor for all PFAS compounds or to treat water with unsafe levels of PFAS.

Accordingly, while we support the proposed rule as a step in the right direction, we urge DEC to expand the GWPRS and WSR to set standards for the entire class of PFAS.

We look forward to your response.

² To further protect Vermonters from the risks associated with PFAS, DEC should implement a surface water standard for PFAS as required by Act 21 of 2019, Section 6(b).

³ See Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) and Your Health, AGENCY FOR TOXIC SUBSTANCES AND DISEASE REGISTRY, https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/pfas/index.html; U.S. Dep't of Health & Human Serv., Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, Toxicological Profile for Perfluoroalkyls, AGENCY for Toxic SUBSTANCES AND DISEASE REGISTRY, at 5–6 (May 2021), https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp200.pdf; Anna Reade et al., NRDC, Scientific and Policy Assessment for Addressing Per- and Polyfluorinated Substances (PFAS) in Drinking Water 19-28 (2019), https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/assessment-for-addressing-pfas-chemicals-in-michigan-drinking-water.pdf & https://publichealth.jhu.edu/2024/what-to-know-about-pfas.

⁴ See U.S. Envtl. Prot. Agency, DRINKING WATER HEALTH ADVISORY FOR PERFLUOROOCTANOIC ACID (PFOA) 39 (2016), available athttps://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-05/documents/pfoa health advisory final 508.pdf.

⁵ Id.

⁶ See Vermont Department of Health, Health Department Releases PFOA Blood Test and Exposure Assessment Results (1/27/2016).

⁷ Act 21 DEC public water supply testing data.

Jon Groveman, Esq. Vermont Natural Resources Council

Elena Mihaly, Esq. Conservation Law Foundation

Paul Burns Vermont Public Interest Research Group

VERMONT GROUNDWATER PROTECTION RULE AND STRATEGY RESPONSE TO COMMENTS

December 5, 2025

The Agency of Natural Resources (Agency) received two comments to the proposed amendments to the Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy (GWPR&S), both attached.

The first comment is from Casella Waste Systems (Casella). Casella recommends that the Agency delay its adoption of amendments to the GWPR&S until the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) revises its PFAS MCL in accord with statements that have been made in litigation around the existing Safe Drinking Water Act MCL that has currently been adopted by EPA.

The Agency considered Casella's comment and will not make changes in response to this comment. The Agency declines to make changes for the following reasons: (1) it is important to continue to take steps to reduce exposure to PFAS in Vermont consistent with the evolving scientific information on PFAS. For example, there are approximately 300 potable water supply wells that have known PFAS concentrations between 4 ppt and 20 ppt where there is a need for some response to protect people from exposure to PFAS; (2) While EPA has stated its intent to modify certain portions of its 2024 final MCL PFAS rule, it has taken no steps to begin the process to repeal or make modifications to this standard, and the outcome of any modifications is uncertain; (3) the Agency and Department of Health have independently concluded that adverse health impacts may occur from exposure to PFAS at (or below) the concentrations established in the GWPR&S; and (4) Vermont has already adopted the federal PFAS MCL as a Vermont MCL for public community and non-transient non-community water systems. It does not make sense to delay adopting this standard based on all the above factors.

The other comment is from the Vermont Natural Resource Council (VNRC), the Conservation Law Foundation (CLF), and Vermont Public Interest Research Group (VPIRG) (collectively Environmental Organizations). The Environmental Organizations support the change to the GWPR&S but advocate that the Agency go beyond the existing standard to regulate PFAS as a class.

In general, the Agency agrees that managing PFAS as a class is a preferred policy and regulatory outcome for managing PFAS in drinking water. PFAS have similar adverse health outcomes, similar exposure pathways, and have cumulative impacts on human health. Notwithstanding this general policy agreement, the Agency believes that the regulatory benefit of consistency between the public drinking water, potable water, and groundwater enforcement programs at the state level is very significant. Many of the limitations identified in the 2021 determination not to regulate PFAS as a class continue to present regulatory challenges to managing PFAS as a class. For that reason, we are not planning on making changes in response to this comment.

Annotated Copy

STATE OF VERMONT Agency of Natural Resources Department of Environmental Conservation

Chapter 12 of the Environmental Protection Rules:

GROUNDWATER PROTECTION RULE AND STRATEGY

Adopted Date: _	
-----------------	--

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUBCHAPT	ER 1 – GENERAL PROVISIONS	
§ 12-101	AUTHORITY	4
§ 12-102	PURPOSE	4
§ 12-103	APPLICABILITY	
§ 12-104	PROVISIONS FOR INCORPORATION	5
§ 12-105	CLASSES OF GROUNDWATER	5
§ 12-106	SEVERABILITY	6
SUBCHAPT	ER 2 – DEFINITIONS	7
§ 12-201	DEFINITIONS	7
SUBCHAPT	ER 3 – PUBLIC TRUST	12
§ 12-301	PUBLIC TRUST USES OF GROUNDWATER; GROUNDWATER QUA	LITY
§ 12-302	PERMITTING DETERMINATION	13
§ 12-303	GENERAL PRESUMPTION OF COMPLIANCE	15
SUBCHAPT	ER 4 – MANAGEMENT OF GROUNDWATER	16
§ 12-401	MANAGEMENT OF CLASS I GROUNDWATER	16
§ 12-402	MANAGEMENT OF CLASS II GROUNDWATER	16
§ 12 - 403	MANAGEMENT OF CLASS III GROUNDWATER	17
§ 12-404	MANAGEMENT OF CLASS IV GROUNDWATER	17
SUBCHAPT	ER 5 – GROUNDWATER RECLASSIFICATION PROCESS	19
§ 12-501	POLICY FOR GROUNDWATER RECLASSIFICATION	19
§ 12-502	RECLASSIFICATION OF GROUNDWATER TO CLASS IV	19
§ 12-503	RECLASSIFICATION PETITION	21
§ 12-504	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REQUIRED	24
§ 12-505	PUBLIC PARTICIPATION	27
§ 12 - 506	RECLASSIFICATION DECISION	29
SUBCHAPT	ER 6 – STANDARDS; BACKGROUND GROUNDWATER QUALITY:	;·
PREVENTIV	VE AND CORRECTIVE ACTIONS	
§ 12-601	ESTABLISHMENT OF GROUNDWATER ENFORCEMENT STANDA	RDS

APPENDIX	ONE	41
§ 12 - 607	CORRECTIVE ACTIONS	37
§ 12 - 606	PREVENTIVE ACTIONS	36
§ 12-605	BACKGROUND GROUNDWATER QUALITY	34
§ 12 - 604	PERMITTING PROHIBITIONS	34
§ 12 - 603	ESTABLISHMENT OF COMPLIANCE POINTS	31
§ 12-602	ESTABLISHMENT OF PREVENTIVE ACTION LEVELS	31

SUBCHAPTER 1 – GENERAL PROVISIONS

§ 12-101 AUTHORITY

This Rule is adopted by the Secretary under the authority granted by 10 V.S.A §§ 1390-1394.

§ 12-102 PURPOSE

It is the purpose of this Rule to establish the following:

- (1) a system of management for the different classes of groundwater;
- (2) a process for the reclassification of groundwater;
- (3) standards for the protection of groundwater quality;
- (4) processes that must be incorporated into regulatory programs to ensure that activities that present a potential threat to groundwater are designed, managed, and permitted to protect groundwater resources; and
- (5) a system to protect the groundwater resources that are held in trust for the public.

§ 12-103 APPLICABILITY

This Rule applies to all activities that are subject to the following Agency rules:

- (1) Solid Waste Management Rules;
- (2) Hazardous Waste Management Regulations;
- (3) Underground Storage Tank Rules;
- (4) Aboveground Storage Tank Rules;
- (5) Salvage Yard Rule;
- (6) Underground Injection Control Regulations;
- (7) Indirect Discharge Rule;
- (8) Stormwater Management Rule;
- (9) Stormwater Management Rule for Stormwater-Impaired Waters;

- (10) Wastewater System and Potable Water Supply Rules (for wastewater systems only); and
- (11) Investigation and Remediation of Contaminated Properties Rule.

§ 12-104 PROVISIONS FOR INCORPORATION

- (a) The Secretary, within five years of adoption of this Rule or prior to filing any proposed changes to a rule listed in Section 12-103 of this Rule with the Interagency Committee on Administrative Rules, whichever is sooner, shall review and revise as necessary each rule listed in Section 12-103 of this Rule to ensure the rule:
 - (1) Incorporates the following:
 - (A) restrictions on activities permitted in areas of each class of groundwater, from Subchapter 4 of this Rule;
 - (B) identification of compliance points, from Sections 12-603 of this Rule;
 - (C) procedure for requiring preventive and corrective actions, from Sections 12-606 and 12-607 of this Rule; and
 - (D) permitting prohibitions, from Section 12-604 of this Rule.
 - (2) Applies the groundwater enforcement standards and preventive actions levels established in Sections 12-601 and 12-602 of this Rule.
 - (3) Does not permit an activity that will adversely affect public trust uses.
- (b) Subsequent to the initial review and revision required in Subsection (a), every seven years thereafter the Secretary shall review, and revise if necessary, the rules listed in Section 12-103 of this Rule to assure continued conformance with Subsection (a).

§ 12-105 CLASSES OF GROUNDWATER

- (a) The following groundwater classifications have been established by statute:
 - (1) Class I. Suitable for public water system. Character uniformly excellent. No exposure to activities which pose a risk to its current or potential use as a public water system.
 - (2) Class II. Suitable for public water system. Character uniformly excellent but exposed to activities which may pose a risk to its current or potential use as a public water system.

- (3) Class III. Suitable as a source of water for a potable water supply, irrigation, agricultural use, and general industrial and commercial use.
- (4) Class IV. Not suitable as a source of water for a potable water supply but suitable for some agricultural, industrial, and commercial use, provided the Secretary may authorize, subject to conditions, use as a source of potable water supply or other use under a reclassification order issued for the aquifer.
- (b) Unless reclassified, all groundwater in the State is Class III.

§ 12-106 SEVERABILITY

The provisions of this Rule are severable. If any provision of this Rule is found to be invalid, or if any application of this Rule to any person or circumstance is found to be invalid, the invalidity shall not affect other provisions that can be given effect in the absence of the invalid provision or application.

SUBCHAPTER 2 – DEFINITIONS

§ 12-201 DEFINITIONS

As used in this Rule, the following terms shall have the specified meaning.

- (1) "Agency" means the Agency of Natural Resources.
- (2) "Activity" means all activities to which this Rule applies, as identified in Section 12-103 of this Rule.
- (3) "Aquifer" means a water bearing stratum of permeable rock, sand, gravel, or other soils.
- (4) "Background groundwater concentration" means the amount of a naturally occurring substance present in groundwater absent human actions or influence.
- (5) "Compliance point" means point of compliance as defined in this Subsection.
- (6) "Contamination" means the presence in groundwater of a substance in an amount exceeding the groundwater enforcement standard established for the substance.
- (7) "Existing use of groundwater" means any present use of groundwater, including use for potable water supplies, public water systems, and agricultural uses and all other non-potable groundwater uses.
- (8) "General permit" means a permit that applies to a class or category of discharges, emissions, disposal, facilities, or activities within a common geographic area, including the entire State or a region of the State.
- (9) "Groundwater" means water below the land surface in a zone of saturation.
- (10) "Groundwater enforcement standards" are those standards adopted pursuant to Section 12-601 of this Rule and contained in Appendix One.
- (11) "High potential risk activities" means the following activities:
 - (A) a solid waste landfill, except those that are closed in accordance with an enforcement action or a certification under the Solid Waste Management Rules;
 - (B) a hazardous waste treatment or disposal facility;
 - (C) the storage of a regulated substance in an underground storage tank with a capacity greater than 1,100 gallons;

- (D) the storage of a regulated substance in an aboveground storage tank with a capacity greater than 1,100 gallons;
- (E) an automobile graveyard, as defined by 24 V.S.A. § 2241;
- (F) a new indirect discharge of sewage using a disposal system with a design capacity greater than 50,000 gallons per day;
- (G) the land application of biosolids or stabilized septage; and
- (H) injection wells.
- (12) "Indirect discharge system" means an indirect discharge, as defined in the Indirect Discharge Rules, that is issued a discharge permit pursuant to the Indirect Discharge Rules.
- (13) "Individual permit" means a permit that authorizes a specific discharge, emission, disposal, facility, or activity that contains terms and conditions that are specific to the discharge, emission, disposal, facility, or activity.
- (14) "Injection well" means injection well, as defined in the Underground Injection Control Regulations, the discharge to which is issued a discharge permit, or otherwise permitted, pursuant to the Underground Injection Control Regulations.
- (15) "Moderate potential risk activities" means the following activities:
 - (A) the storage of a regulated substance in an underground storage tank with a capacity less than or equal to 1,100 gallons;
 - (B) the storage of a regulated substance in an aboveground storage tank with a capacity less than or equal to 1,100 gallons;
 - (C) a solid waste storage or transfer facility with a leachate collection system;
 - (D) a hazardous waste storage facility;
 - (E) a hazardous waste generator that meets the requirements of Section 7-308(a) of the Vermont Hazardous Waste Management Regulations (Large Quantity Generators); and
 - (F) a new indirect discharge of sewage using a disposal system with a design with a capacity less than 50,000 gallons per day.

- (16) "Monitoring well" means a device used to monitor the depth or elevation of the piezometric surface, or groundwater quality, quantity, or both.
- (17) "New indirect discharge system" means either a new indirect discharge of sewage or a new indirect discharge of non-sewage waste, as defined in the Indirect Discharge Rules.
- (18) "Non-potable groundwater" means groundwater that is not potable groundwater or that will not be potable groundwater for at least five years, or is scientifically predicted to become unsuitable as a source of potable groundwater within five years.
- (19) "Permit" means a permit, certification, license, registration, determination, or similar form of permission required from the Secretary by law. However, the term excludes a professional license issued pursuant to 10 V.S.A. §§ 1936 (UST inspector licenses), 6607 (hazardous waste transporters), and 6607a (waste transportation).
- (20) "Person" means any individual, partnership, company, corporation, cooperative, association, unincorporated association, joint venture, trust, the state of Vermont or any department, agency, subdivision, or municipality, the United States government or any department, agency, or subdivision, or any other legal or commercial entity.
- (21) "Point of compliance" means the locations identified in Section 12-603 of this Rule.
- (22) "Potable groundwater" means groundwater meeting groundwater enforcement standards.
- (23) "Potable water supply" means potable water supply as defined in the Wastewater System and Potable Water Supply Rules.
- (24) "Proposed," in reference to a public water source, means proposed in an application for a public water source permit or proposed in a petition to reclassify groundwater.
- (25) "Public trust use" means those uses of groundwater designated in this Rule as uses for which groundwater is held in the public trust. Public trust uses include existing and future uses of groundwater. Public trust uses can be competing uses.
- (26) "Public water source" means any groundwater used, or permitted to be used, as a source of drinking water for a public water system.
- (27) "Public water source protection area" means public water source protection area as defined in the Water Supply Rule.

- (28) "Public water system" means public water system as defined in the Water Supply Rule.
- (29) "Qualified Hydrogeologist" means a person with training or experience in hydrogeology, surficial geology, and bedrock geology sufficient to adequately prepare the hydrogeologic studies and analyses required by this Rule.
- (30) "Receptor" means any natural or human-constructed feature that may be adversely affected when contacted by groundwater that contains a substance in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards. Examples of receptors include public water sources, sources of water for potable water supplies, surface waters, wetlands, soils, sensitive ecological areas, outdoor and indoor air, and enclosed spaces such as basements, sewers, and subsurface utilities.
- (31) "Secretary" means the Secretary of the Agency of Natural Resources or the Secretary's duly authorized representative.
- (32) "Stormwater hotspot" means an area that generates higher concentrations of hydrocarbons, trace metals, and toxicants than are found in typical stormwater runoff.
- (33) "Technically impractical to achieve complete remediation" means a situation where the Secretary has determined, using the following factors, that it is impractical to remediate contamination to eliminate exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards:
 - (A) the nature of the subsurface geology;
 - (B) the types and physical properties of the substances in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards;
 - (C) the sources of contamination and causes of any exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards;
 - (D) the amount of any hazardous material released;
 - (E) the date of the original release into the groundwater of the substances in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards (i.e., age of contamination);
 - (F) the fate and transport of the substances in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards;

- (G) whether technology or methods exist that can remediate the contamination to eliminate exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards;
- (H) whether remediation of the contamination to eliminate exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards would result in greater harm to human health or the environment than either lesser remediation or no remediation;
- (I) the cost effectiveness of remediation as measured by the cost of the technology or methods for remediation relative to the tangible environmental and health benefits to any receptor of the contaminated groundwater; and
- (J) any other factors the Secretary determines are relevant.
- (34) "Vermont Action Levels" means the numeric guidelines reached and derived by the Vermont Department of Health for particular chemicals that have Maximum Contaminant Levels promulgated by the United State Environmental Protection Agency and are of specific public health interest as determined by the Vermont Department of Health.
- (35) "Wastewater System" means wastewater system as defined in the Wastewater System and Potable Water Supply Rules.

SUBCHAPTER 3 – PUBLIC TRUST

§ 12-301 PUBLIC TRUST USES OF GROUNDWATER; GROUNDWATER QUALITY

- (a) It is the policy of the State that the groundwater resources of the State are held in trust for the public.
- (b) This policy is accomplished in part by regulating groundwater withdrawal pursuant to the Groundwater Withdrawal Reporting and Permitting Rules, in a manner that benefits the people of the state and is compatible with long-range water resource planning, proper management, and use of the water resources of Vermont. This policy is also accomplished in part by minimizing the risks of groundwater quality deterioration by regulating human activities, pursuant to this Rule, that present risks to the use of groundwater in the vicinities of such activities while balancing the State's groundwater policy with the need to maintain and promote a healthy and prosperous agricultural community.
- (c) The following uses of groundwater are protected as public trust uses:
 - (1) withdrawal for fire suppression or other public emergency purposes;
 - (2) withdrawal for domestic, residential use;
 - (3) withdrawal for farming, as that term is defined in 6 V.S.A. Chapter 215, that is in compliance with the requirements of 6 V.S.A. Chapter 215;
 - (4) withdrawal for dairy processing conducted by dairy processors and milk handlers licensed in accordance with 6 V.S.A. § 2721;
 - (5) potable water supplies;
 - (6) public water systems; and
 - (7) closed loop, standing column, or similar non-extractive geothermal heat pumps.
- (d) This subchapter shall not apply to the regulation of per-and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in the following Rules:
 - (1) <u>Indirect Discharge Rule (sewage permits only)</u>;
 - (2) Stormwater Management Rule;
 - (3) Stormwater Management Rule for Stormwater-Impaired Waters; and

(4) Wastewater System and Potable Water Supply Rules (for wastewater systems only).

§ 12-302 PERMITTING DETERMINATION

- (a) An activity that is proposed for initial permitting or expansion and requires an individual permit shall not be permitted unless:
 - (1) the activity is presumed, pursuant to Section 12-303, to not adversely affect public trust uses and not to violate Section 604(a) of this Rule; or
 - (2) the Secretary determines, on a case by case basis, that the activity will not adversely affect public trust uses and will not violate Section 604(a) of this Rule. In order for the Secretary to make this determination, an applicant must submit information sufficient for the Secretary to make each of the following affirmative findings:
 - (A) The activity will not prevent the public's future use of groundwater as a public water source or source of water for a potable water supply. The Secretary may make this finding if the applicant provides information demonstrating that, subsequent to ceasing the activity, the groundwater enforcement standards will not be exceeded at any point on the property on which the activity is to be located.
 - (B) If located within zone one or two of a public water source protection area, the activity is consistent with the purpose of the identified source protection area and of the approved source protection plan.
 - (C) If located within an overlay district established by a municipality pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 4414(2) for the protection of aquifers or public water source protection areas, the activity is not inconsistent with the requirements of that overlay district.
 - (D) The activity will not otherwise adversely affect public trust uses.
 - (E) The activity will not result in an exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at points of compliance, except as indicated in Section 604(b) of this Rule.
- (b) An activity that is proposed for initial permitting or expansion and requires a notice of intent to operate under a general permit shall not be permitted unless:
 - (1) the activity is presumed, pursuant to Subsection (c), to not adversely affect public trust uses and not to violate Section 604(a) of this Rule; or

- (2) the Secretary determines, on a case by case basis, that the activity will not adversely affect public trust uses and will not violate Section 604(a) of this Rule. In order for the Secretary to make this determination, an applicant must submit information sufficient for the Secretary to make each of the affirmative findings listed in Subsection (a)(2).
- (c) An activity that is proposed for initial permitting or expansion and that requires a notice of intent to operate under a general permit is presumed to not adversely affect public trust uses and not to violate Section 604(a) of this Rule when the general permit has been reviewed, and amended if necessary, by the Secretary to assure the general permit includes conditions that:
 - (1) Subject the activity to:
 - (A) performance or technical standards that constitute the best practical treatment and control technology. For the purposes of this Subsection, best practical treatment and control technology means performance or technical standards that the Secretary has determined are reliable and reasonably assure that the requirement in Section 12-302(a)(2)(A) of this Rule is met; or
 - (B) best management practices that constitute the best practical treatment and disposal practices. For the purposes of this Subsection, best practical treatment and disposal practices means a combination of operational requirements and design standards that the Secretary has determined are reliable and reasonably assure that the requirement in Section 12-302(a)(2)(A) of this Rule is met.
 - (2) Subject the activity to such additional performance or technical standards and best management practices that the Secretary deems necessary to ensure that the activity will not adversely affect public trust uses and will not violate Section 604(a) of this Rule.
 - (3) Require the applicant to certify, as part of the notice of intent to operate under the general permit, each of the following:
 - (A) If located within zone one or two of a public water source protection area, the activity is consistent with the purpose of the identified source protection area and of the approved source protection plan.
 - (B) If located within an overlay district established by a municipality pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 4414(2) for the protection of aquifers or public water source protection areas, the activity is not inconsistent with the requirements of that overlay district.

§ 12-303 GENERAL PRESUMPTION OF COMPLIANCE

- (a) An activity that is proposed for initial permitting or expansion is presumed to not adversely affect public trust uses and not to violate Section 604(a) of this Rule when the rules to which the activity is subject have been reviewed, and revised if necessary, by the Secretary to assure the rules:
 - (1) Subject the activity to:
 - (A) performance or technical standards that constitute the best practical treatment and control technology. For the purposes of this Subsection, best practical treatment and control technology means performance or technical standards that the Secretary has determined are reliable and reasonably assure that the requirement in Section 12-302(a)(2)(A) of this Rule is met; or
 - (B) best management practices that constitute the best practical treatment and control practices. For the purposes of this Subsection, best practical treatment and control practices means a combination of operational requirements and design standards that the Secretary has determined are reliable and reasonably assure that the requirement in Section 12-302(a)(2)(A) of this Rule is met.
 - (2) Subject the activity to such additional performance or technical standards and best management practices that the Secretary deems necessary to ensure that the activity will not adversely affect public trust uses and will not violate Section 604(a) of this Rule.
 - (3) Require the applicant to demonstrate as a part of the application process, or certify as part of the notice of intent to operate under the general permit, each of the following:
 - (A) If located within zone one or two of a public water source protection area, the activity is consistent with the purpose of the identified source protection area and of the approved source protection plan.
 - (B) If located within an overlay district established by a municipality pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 4414(2) for the protection of aquifers or public water source protection areas, the activity is not inconsistent with the requirements of that overlay district.
- (b) The general presumption of compliance provided in this section shall not impede the Secretary's ability to take enforcement action if the activity adversely affects public trust uses or results in an exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at points of compliance.

SUBCHAPTER 4 – MANAGEMENT OF GROUNDWATER

§ 12-401 MANAGEMENT OF CLASS I GROUNDWATER

Class I groundwater shall be managed as follows:

- (1) The Secretary shall identify and reclassify groundwater to Class I in accordance with Subchapter 5 of this Rule.
- (2) The Secretary shall not permit high potential risk activities or moderate potential risk activities in Class I groundwater areas;
- (3) The Secretary shall not permit wastewater systems in Class I groundwater areas;
- (4) The Secretary shall not permit stormwater discharge systems that infiltrate to groundwater from stormwater hotspots in Class I groundwater areas.
- (5) The Secretary shall not permit other activities in Class I groundwater areas unless the applicant seeking approval for the activity demonstrates the activity complies with the requirements in Section 12-604 of this Rule.
- (6) The Secretary shall participate in Act 250, Section 248, and Section 248a proceedings when the Secretary determines that the proposed project may present a risk to groundwater quality in a Class I groundwater area and shall recommend that the District Environmental Commissions, in issuing Act 250 Land Use Permits, and the Public Service Board, in issuing Certificates of Public Good, require that the project conforms to this Rule.

§ 12-402 MANAGEMENT OF CLASS II GROUNDWATER

Class II groundwater shall be managed as follows:

- (1) The Secretary shall identify and reclassify groundwater to Class II in accordance with Subchapter 5 of this Rule.
- (2) The Secretary shall not permit high potential risk activities in Class II groundwater areas.
- (3) The Secretary shall not permit other activities in Class II groundwater areas unless the applicant seeking approval for the activity demonstrates the activity complies with the requirements in Section 12-604 of this Rule.

(4) The Secretary may participate in Act 250, Section 248, and Section 248a proceedings when the Secretary determines that the proposed project may present a risk to groundwater quality in a Class II groundwater area, in particular to the purpose for which the groundwater was reclassified as Class II, and may recommend that the District Environmental Commissions, in issuing Act 250 Land Use Permits, and the Public Service Board, in issuing Certificates of Public Good, require that the project conforms to this Rule.

§ 12-403 MANAGEMENT OF CLASS III GROUNDWATER

Class III groundwater shall be managed as follows:

- (1) The Secretary shall not permit activities in Class III groundwater areas unless the applicant seeking approval for an activity demonstrates the activity complies with the requirements in Section 12-604 of this Rule.
- (2) The Secretary may participate in Act 250, Section 248, and Section 248a proceedings when the Secretary determines that the proposed project may present a risk to groundwater quality in a Class III groundwater area and may recommend that the District Environmental Commissions, in issuing Act 250 Land Use Permits, and the Public Service Board, in issuing Certificates of Public Good, require that the project conforms to this Rule.

§ 12-404 MANAGEMENT OF CLASS IV GROUNDWATER

Class IV groundwater shall be managed as follows:

- (1) The Secretary shall not permit activities in a Class IV groundwater area unless the applicant seeking approval for an activity demonstrates the activity complies with the requirements in Section 12-604 of this Rule.
- (2) The Secretary shall not permit sources of water for potable water supplies or public water sources in a Class IV groundwater area, provided the Secretary may authorize, subject to conditions, use as a source of potable water supply or other use under a reclassification order issued for the aquifer.

(3) The Secretary may participate in Act 250, Section 248, and Section 248a proceedings when the Secretary determines that the proposed project may cause or contribute to the deterioration of groundwater quality in a Class IV groundwater area in order to reduce or eliminate the impacts of the proposed project and may recommend that the District Environmental Commissions, in issuing Act 250 Land Use Permits, and the Public Service Board, in issuing Certificates of Public Good, require that the project conforms to this Rule.

SUBCHAPTER 5 – GROUNDWATER RECLASSIFICATION PROCESS

§ 12-501 POLICY FOR GROUNDWATER RECLASSIFICATION

- (a) The Secretary shall encourage and promote the reclassification of groundwater to Class I when the groundwater contains a permitted or existing public water source or has a high probability for use as a public water source, the character is uniformly excellent and there is no exposure to activities that pose a risk to its current or potential use as a public water source.
- (b) The Secretary shall encourage and promote the reclassification of groundwater to Class II when the groundwater has a high probability for use as a public water source and its character is uniformly excellent but exposed to activities that may pose a risk to its current or potential use as a public water source.
- (c) The Secretary shall support the reclassification of groundwater to Class IV when it would further the purpose of protecting human health by limiting human consumption of the groundwater and of returning, if possible, the groundwater to Class III as soon as practical in light of the circumstances, the potential harm, and the sources causing or contributing to contamination.

§ 12-502 RECLASSIFICATION OF GROUNDWATER TO CLASS IV

- (a) The Secretary shall reclassify groundwater to Class IV when the Secretary learns the groundwater enforcement standards have been exceeded at a compliance point and when the Secretary determines that such exceedance is expected to last for five or more years from the date the Secretary learns of the exceedance, or the date of the submission of the reclassification petition, whichever is earlier, except if the Secretary reaches one of the following determinations:
 - (1) Institutional controls have been implemented to address the presence of all contamination such as deed restrictions that limit access to groundwater, municipal ordinances that limit the use of contaminated groundwater, and restrictive easements or covenants.
 - (2) All of the following exist:
 - (A) Groundwater yield is 0.1 gallons per minute or less.
 - (B) No contamination is acting nor will act as a source causing or contributing to contamination in an aquifer with sufficient yield.

- (C) Notice has been recorded and indexed in the land records for the municipality where the lot is located.
- (3) The contamination is not present due to human actions or influence and reclassification would not further the purposes identified in Section 12-501 of this Rule for reclassification of groundwater to Class IV.
- (4) All contamination poses a low risk. For the purposes of this determination, low risk exists when the following conditions are met:
 - (A) The groundwater enforcement standard is not exceeded, and will not be exceeded as a result of the contamination, at a receptor that is a public water source or a source of water for a potable water supply.
 - (B) A notice has been recorded and indexed in the land records for the municipality where the lot is located.
 - (C) A remediation plan required pursuant to Section 12-607 of this Rule or a corrective action plan required pursuant to 10 V.S.A. § 6615b exists for the site and either:
 - (i) the Secretary determines through a technical assessment of the contamination that, within ten years of the date the remediation plan or corrective action plan is initially approved or issued by the Secretary, natural attenuation of each substance will result in compliance with the groundwater enforcement standards at the points of compliance; or
 - (ii) the following two conditions are met:
 - (I) The area is served by municipal water, and there are no public or potable groundwater drinking water sources, or groundwater source protection areas, within 2,000 feet of the points of compliance; and
 - (II) the Secretary determines through technical assessment of the contamination that, within ten years of the date the remediation plan or corrective action plan is initially approved or issued by the Secretary, the groundwater enforcement standards will not be exceeded more than 1,000 feet beyond points of compliance and the plume will be receding.
- (b) The Secretary shall not reclassify groundwater to Class IV in order for it to be used for industrial discharges.
- (c) The Secretary shall require any person or persons who the Secretary determines is causing or contributing to an exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at a point of compliance that is the basis for the reclassification of groundwater to Class IV to take the following actions:

- (1) Submit an initial report with the elements identified in Section 12-606 of this Rule.
- (2) Submit a supplemental report with the elements identified in Section 12-606 of this Rule.
- (3) Take immediate actions to abate the risk to human health or the environment, as described in Section 12-606 of this Rule.
- (4) Implement a remediation plan with the goals of eliminating exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards at points of compliance, as described in Section 12-606 of this Rule, and returning the groundwater to Class III.

§ 12-503 RECLASSIFICATION PETITION

- (a) Petitioners.
 - (1) The following persons may submit a petition to the Secretary to reclassify groundwater:
 - (A) any program or combination of programs within the Agency;
 - (B) the legislative body of the municipality in the area of the proposed reclassification;
 - (C) 25 or more persons affected by the proposed reclassification;
 - (D) any person affected by contamination in the area that could be reclassified to Class IV groundwater;
 - (E) for petitions to reclassify groundwater to Class I or II, the owner of a public water source located in the area of the proposed reclassification; or
 - (F) for petitions to reclassify groundwater from Class IV to Class III, a person who has completed actions authorized in a remediation plan required pursuant to Section 12-607 of this Rule.
 - (2) When required by the Secretary within a remediation plan required pursuant to Section 12-607 of this Rule or a corrective action plan required pursuant to 10 V.S.A. § 6615b, a person who the Secretary determines is causing or contributing to an exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at a point of compliance shall submit a petition to the Secretary to reclassify groundwater to Class IV.

- (b) A petition can be submitted as a standalone document or included and incorporated in a permit application or a supplemental report required pursuant to Section 12-606 of this Rule. When a petition is part of another proceeding, the public participation and other procedural requirements of that proceeding shall apply to the petition.
- (c) Petition. A petition to reclassify groundwater shall, at a minimum, include:
 - (1) Identification of the current classification and proposed reclassification and a description of the need for the proposed reclassification.
 - (2) Information describing the aquifer structure and groundwater flow regime developed by a qualified hydrogeologist, utilizing information from current and historic federal, state, and municipal data sources, and identifying, modeling, and addressing the following site components within the area proposed to be reclassified:
 - (A) bedrock and surficial geology (e.g. rock type, depositional environment);
 - (B) geological structure (e.g. fracture pattern, jointing, lineaments);
 - (C) soils (e.g. thickness, stratification, hydraulic properties);
 - (D) aquifer types;
 - (E) groundwater flow and direction, including estimated recharge and discharge areas;
 - (F) all existing uses of groundwater proposed to be reclassified, including high potential risk activities and moderate potential risk activities; and
 - (G) potential sources causing or contributing to contamination.
 - (3) A map of the proposed reclassification area delineated on a United States Geological Survey topographic map at a scale of 1:24,000, or at a scale that gives greater detail. The map shall include the following items:
 - (A) legend, graphical scale bar, north arrow, and the base map source;
 - (B) boundaries of the proposed reclassification area;
 - (C) property lines and SPANs, within the reclassification area and for all properties adjacent to the properties on which the proposed reclassification area extends;
 - (D) roads, within the proposed reclassification area and within 300 feet of the proposed boundaries;

- (E) surface waters, with identified classification if available, and any mapped outstanding resource water (e.g., vernal pools and wetlands) as shown on the Agency of Natural Resources Atlas, within the proposed reclassification area and within 300 feet of the proposed boundaries;
- (F) existing groundwater withdrawal locations, including public water sources and sources of water for potable water supplies, and the well tags and Vermont State Plane northing and easting coordinates associated with such locations, within the proposed reclassification area and within 300 feet of the proposed boundaries;
- (G) monitoring wells and well identification numbers, within the proposed reclassification area and within 300 feet of the proposed boundaries.
- (4) A digital Geographic Information System (GIS) shapefile, in the Vermont State Plane Coordinate System, that delineates the boundaries of the proposed reclassification area.
- (5) A narrative description of the following:
 - (A) the current groundwater quality within the proposed reclassification area, including at points of compliance;
 - (B) consequences of potential contamination of the groundwater;
 - (C) quantity of groundwater within the area proposed for reclassification and availability in quantities needed for public trust uses;
 - (D) availability of alternate sources of water;
 - (E) existing uses of groundwater within the proposed reclassification area, including high potential risk activities and moderate potential risk activities; and
 - (F) method used to delineate the boundaries of the area proposed to be reclassified and justification for the method.
- (6) Compilation of all data available to the petitioner that documents the elements identified above or otherwise demonstrates the need for reclassification. This may include, but is not limited to, field data, published reports including previously submitted reports, and previously submitted permit applications. All materials shall be provided in pdf text searchable files or a compatible format. The Secretary may request data in a spreadsheet format.

(7) Listing of names and contact information for all landowners of properties within the proposed classification area and adjoining landowners, indexed with the properties' SPANs. For the purposes of this Section, the term adjoining landowner includes a landowner of property that either shares a property boundary with a tract of land on which the proposed reclassification area extends or is adjacent to a tract of land on which the proposed reclassification area extends and is separated only by a river, stream, or public highway from that tract of land.

§ 12-504 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REQUIRED

- (a) For petitions to reclassify groundwater to Class I, the following additional information shall be included in the petition for reclassification:
 - (1) Location of the proposed, permitted, or existing public water sources upon which the boundaries of the proposed reclassification area are based.
 - (2) An investigation of the area proposed to be reclassified showing that no high potential risk activities or moderate potential risk activities take place within the proposed boundaries of the reclassification area.
 - (3) A description of why there are no existing threats to the current or potential use of groundwater in the area of the proposed reclassification as a public water source, including a description of how the petitioner will protect such current or potential use through the acquisition of real property, easements, municipal zoning, or other means.
 - (4) Documentation that the proposed reclassification area:
 - (A) contains a permitted or existing public water source; or
 - (B) has a high probability for use as a public water source, which shall include the following:
 - (i) projected maximum demand figure for each proposed public water source upon which the boundaries of the proposed reclassification area are based; and
 - (ii) a hydrogeologic study indicating that the area proposed for reclassification could reasonably meet each projected public water source demand.
 - (5) Documentation of the uniformly excellent water quality throughout the proposed reclassification area.
 - (6) Documentation identifying and explaining how reclassification to Class I is consistent with:

- (A) any municipal or regional plan provisions that address the quality or use of groundwater or the long-range management of groundwater resources;
- (B) any provisions of an overlay district established by a municipality pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 4414(2) for the protection of aquifers; and
- (C) any provisions of an approved source protection plan.
- (b) For petitions to reclassify groundwater to Class II, the following additional information shall be included in the petition for reclassification:
 - (1) Location of the proposed, permitted, or existing public water sources upon which the boundaries of the proposed reclassification area are based.
 - (2) An investigation of the area proposed to be reclassified showing that no high potential risk activities take place within the proposed boundaries of the reclassification area.
 - (3) An identification of potential threats to the current or potential use of groundwater in the area of the proposed reclassification as a public water source, including a description of how the petitioner will protect such current or potential use from the threat of future harm through the acquisition of real property, easements, municipal zoning, or other means.
 - (4) Documentation that the proposed reclassification area:
 - (A) contains a permitted or existing public water source; or
 - (B) has a high probability for use as a public water source, which shall include the following:
 - (i) the documented projected maximum demand figure for each proposed public water source upon which the boundaries of the proposed reclassification area are based; and
 - (ii) a hydrogeologic study indicating that the area proposed for reclassification could reasonably meet each projected public water source demand.
 - (5) Documentation of the uniform excellent water quality throughout the proposed reclassification area.
 - (6) Documentation identifying and explaining how reclassification to Class II is consistent with:

- (A) any municipal or regional plan provisions that address the quality or use of groundwater or the long-range management of groundwater resources;
- (B) any provisions of an overlay district established by a municipality pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 4414(2) for the protection of aquifers; and
- (C) any provisions of an approved source protection plan.
- (c) For petitions to reclassify groundwater to Class IV, the following additional information shall be included in the petition for reclassification:
 - (1) Identification of the substances in the groundwater that are in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at a point of compliance, including an identification of the source or sources that are causing or contributing to the exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards.
 - (2) A description of the fate and transport of the substances in the groundwater that are in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at a point of compliance, including:
 - (A) the extent of the area contaminated with substances in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards;
 - (B) a description of the stability of each contaminant plume (stable, declining, expanding)
 - (C) any projected expansion of the substances for five years after the date of the petition;
 - (D) any projected retreat of the substances for five years after the date of the petition; and
 - (E) the distribution of substances in the groundwater, soil, and bedrock as appropriate including:
 - (i) the distribution of the substances in aqueous, non-aqueous, sorbed, and vapor phases; and
 - (ii) any other site specific data as appropriate to demonstrate the extent of the contamination and the long term fate and transport of the substances in the subsurface including:
 - (I) vertical distribution of contamination by the substances in the groundwater;

- (II) horizontal and vertical hydraulic gradients in groundwater;
- (III) chemical mass transfer flux between geologic units if this information is available;
- (IV) chemical degradation rates if available;
- (V) chemical degradation byproducts if available; and
- (VI) chemical mass flux to any surface water bodies if applicable.
- (d) For petitions to reclassify groundwater from Class IV to Class III, the following additional information shall be included in the petition for reclassification:
 - (1) Information demonstrating that actions authorized in a remediation plan required pursuant to Section 12-607 of this Rule have successfully reduced the contamination to eliminate exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards within the area proposed to be reclassified.
- (e) The Secretary may require additional information necessary for the Secretary to make a final reclassification decision.

§ 12-505 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

- (a) Notice of petition.
 - (1) Following receipt of an administratively complete petition to reclassify groundwater, the Secretary shall provide notice of receipt of the petition and a copy of the petition through the Environmental Notice Bulletin.
 - (2) Within 7 calendar days of the Secretary's determination that the petition is administratively complete, the petitioner shall provide notice of the petition on a form developed by the Secretary that includes, at a minimum, instructions on how to access the petition through the Environmental Notice Bulletin and continue to receive notices and information concerning the petition, that is sent to the following persons by U.S. mail:
 - (A) the town clerk for each municipality in which the groundwater proposed for reclassification is located;
 - (B) the regional planning commission for each municipality in which the groundwater proposed for reclassification is located; and
 - (C) each landowner identified pursuant to Section 12-503(c)(7) of this Rule.

- (3) Within 7 calendar days of the Secretary's determination that the petition is administratively complete, the petitioner shall also provide notice of the petition to the general public by publishing an announcement in a newspaper of general circulation in each municipality in which the groundwater proposed for reclassification is located which includes the name and e-mail or mailing address for the petitioner, a brief description of the proposed reclassification, and instructions on how to access the petition through the Environmental Notice Bulletin and continue to receive notices and information concerning the petition.
- (b) Draft decision, Public comment period, and Public informational meeting.
 - (1) When the Secretary has issued a draft decision on a petition to reclassify groundwater, the Secretary shall provide notice of the draft decision and a copy of the draft decision through the Environmental Notice Bulletin. The draft decision shall include a draft reclassification order, if applicable.
 - (2) In association with the notice of the draft decision, Secretary shall provide a public comment period for no less than 30 calendar days.
 - (3) Any person may request a public informational meeting within 14 calendar days of the notice of the draft decision. The Secretary shall hold a public informational meeting whenever any person files a written request for such a meeting. If no person requests a public informational meeting, the Secretary may hold such a meeting at his or her discretion.
 - (4) When a public informational meeting is held, the Secretary shall provide at least 14 calendar days' notice of the location, date, and time of the public informational meeting through the Environmental Notice Bulletin. The public comment period shall be extended such that it does not end until at least 7 days following the public informational meeting.

(c) Final decision.

- (1) When the Secretary has issued a final decision on a petition to reclassify groundwater, the Secretary shall provide notice of the final decision, a copy of the final decision, and a response to comments through the Environmental Notice Bulletin. The final decision shall include a final reclassification order, if applicable.
- (2) When a decision reclassifies groundwater to Class IV, the Secretary shall provide notice to all Vermont licensed well drillers.
- (d) Consultation with the groundwater coordinating committee.

- (1) The Secretary may solicit comments from the groundwater coordinating committee on a petition prior to issuing a draft decision.
- (2) The Secretary may solicit comments from the groundwater coordinating committee during the public comment period.
- (3) The Secretary shall give comments of the committee due consideration.

§ 12-506 RECLASSIFICATION DECISION

- (a) Reclassification decision. The draft and final decisions on the petition to reclassify groundwater shall contain the following:
 - (1) The Secretary's affirmative findings on the following:
 - (A) That the factual information provided in accordance with the requirements of Sections 12-503 and 12-504 of this Rule adequately supports the petition for reclassification.
 - (B) If reclassification of groundwater to Class I, that the groundwater contains a permitted or existing public water source or has high probability for use as a public water source, that the character is uniformly excellent, and that there is no exposure to activities that pose a risk to its current or potential use as a public water source.
 - (C) If reclassification of groundwater to Class II, that the groundwater contains a permitted or existing public water source or has a high probability for use as a public water source and that its character is uniformly excellent despite exposure to activities that may pose a risk to its current or potential use as a public water source.
 - (D) If reclassification of groundwater to Class I or II, such reclassification is consistent with:
 - (i) any municipal or regional plan provisions that address the quality or use of groundwater or the long-range management of groundwater resources;
 - (ii) any provisions of an overlay district established by a municipality pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 4414(2) for the protection of aquifers; and
 - (iii) any provisions of an approved source protection plan.

- (E) If reclassification of groundwater to Class III, that the groundwater is suitable as a source of water for a potable water supply, irrigation, agricultural use, and general industrial and commercial use.
- (F) If reclassification of groundwater to Class IV, that the groundwater is not suitable as a source of water for a potable water supply, provided the Secretary may authorize, subject to conditions, use as a source of potable water supply or other use under a reclassification order issued for the aquifer.
- (2) A map in digital format that clearly delineates the boundaries of the reclassified area and includes a description of the area. The boundaries shall be identified on the map in a manner that allows for easy location at the site (e.g., using natural features, straight lines, placed monuments, property lines).
- (b) Legislative approval for select reclassifications pursuant to 10 V.S.A. § 1394(f). No classification of groundwater that involves privately owned land to Class I shall take effect until approved by an Act of the Vermont General Assembly. No reclassification of groundwater from Class I to another class shall take effect until approved by an Act of the Vermont General Assembly.

SUBCHAPTER 6 – STANDARDS; BACKGROUND GROUNDWATER QUALITY; PREVENTIVE AND CORRECTIVE ACTIONS

§ 12-601 ESTABLISHMENT OF GROUNDWATER ENFORCEMENT STANDARDS

- (a) The Secretary adopts and establishes the groundwater enforcement standards contained in Appendix One.
- (b) When a compliance point is a receptor that is a public water source or a source of water for a potable water supply, the Vermont Action Level established by the Department of Health and contained in Appendix One shall apply in lieu of the groundwater enforcement standard and operate as that standard for the purposes of this Rule for the compliance point.

§ 12-602 ESTABLISHMENT OF PREVENTIVE ACTION LEVELS

In order to provide early warning of a potential exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards, a preventive action level contained in Appendix One has been adopted and established for each groundwater enforcement standard.

- (1) For all substances that have carcinogenic, mutagenic, or developmental toxicity properties, as established by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency or determined by the Vermont Department of Health, the preventive action level is 10% of the groundwater enforcement standard, adjusted for analytical laboratory reporting limits.
- (2) The preventive action level for all other listed substances is 50% of the groundwater enforcement standard, adjusted for analytical laboratory reporting limits.

§ 12-603 ESTABLISHMENT OF COMPLIANCE POINTS

- (a) A single activity may have multiple compliance points.
- (b) Activities, except wastewater systems and indirect discharge systems, shall have the following compliance points:
 - (1) any point of present use of groundwater, including use as a public water source or as a source of water for potable water supplies;
 - (2) the boundary of a Class I, Class II, or Class IV groundwater area;
 - (3) zone two of a public water source protection area; and
 - (4) any point at the boundary of the property where the activity is located.
- (c) Wastewater systems shall have the following compliance points:

- (1) the boundary of a Class I, Class II, or Class IV groundwater area; and
- (2) any point on the boundary of the wastewater system presumptive isolation zone as defined in the Wastewater System and Potable Water Supply Rules.
- (d) Indirect discharge systems shall have the following compliance points:
 - (1) the boundary of a Class I, Class II, or Class IV groundwater area; and
 - (2) any point 150 feet upgradient from a leachfield or sprayfield or land application area and any point 300 feet downgradient from a leachfield or sprayfield or land application area, as measured from:
 - (A) for a leachfield in a mound, the corners of the basal area of the mound;
 - (B) for a leachfield not in a mound, the corners of the leachfield stone or other application surface; and
 - (C) for a sprayfield or land application area, the edges of the disposal area or the land application area.
- (e) For contaminated sites managed pursuant to the Investigation and Remediation of Contaminated Sites Rule or corrective actions under§ 12-607 of this rule, the Secretary may use the following alternative compliance points as an alternative to the compliance point established in subsection (b)(4) of this section:
 - (1) the opposite bank of a watercourse as defined by 10 V.S.A. § 1002(22) to the property where the release occurred where the surface water does not exceed

 Vermont Water Quality Criteria and the groundwater does not migrate under the surface water body and exceed standards on the opposite bank; or
 - (2) the furthest boundary of a road right of way adjacent to the property where the release occurred.
- (f) In addition to the compliance points established pursuant to Subsection (b), the following activities shall have the following additional compliance points:
 - (1) For an active certified solid waste landfill operational unit: no more than 150 meters from the edge of the liner in the hydraulically down-gradient direction.
 - (2) For certified hazardous waste treatment or disposal facilities, including waste piles, landfills, and surface impoundments: the edge of the regulated activity.
 - (3) For injection wells: a case-by-case determination.

- (4) For underground storage tanks: outside of the underground tank system.
- (g) The Secretary may, and a person may petition the Secretary to, modify the horizontal distances and associated compliance points identified in Subsection (b), (c), or (d) on a case-by-case basis.
 - (1) The Secretary may adopt or approve an increase or decrease to the horizontal distance if the Secretary determines, taking into account the characteristics identified in Subsection (f)(3), that the increase or decrease will not result in potential exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards or that the increase or decrease is necessary in order to protect an existing use of groundwater.
 - (2) The Secretary shall not approve an increase to the horizontal distance that would allow a compliance point to be located beyond the boundary of the property on which the activity is located.
 - (3) The petitioner seeking a modification to the horizontal distance shall provide the Secretary with information on all of the following characteristics and evidence that the proposed change will not result in potential exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards at a point of any existing use of groundwater:
 - (A) site topography;
 - (B) nature, thickness, and permeability of unconsolidated materials;
 - (C) nature and permeability of bedrock;
 - (D) groundwater depth, flow direction, and velocity;
 - (E) volume, type, and characteristics of potential sources that may result in contamination, including waste loading;
 - (F) mobility of substances that cause or contribute to contamination;
 - (G) distances to property boundaries and surface waters;
 - (H) engineering design of the activity;
 - (I) life span of the activity;
 - (J) present use of land and groundwater; and
 - (K) potential abatement options if the groundwater enforcement standards are exceeded.

(4) The Secretary may request additional information from the petitioner when the Secretary determines such information would aid in the determination of whether modification to the horizontal distance would result in potential exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards or is necessary in order to protect an existing use of groundwater.

§ 12-604 PERMITTING PROHIBITIONS

- (a) The Secretary shall not permit an activity that will result in an exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at points of compliance, except as indicated in Subsection (b).
- (b) The Secretary shall not authorize a remediation plan required pursuant to Section 12-607 of this Rule, or a corrective action plan required pursuant to 10 V.S.A. § 6615b, that permits activities that will result in an exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at a point of compliance or otherwise adversely affect an existing use of groundwater, unless it is technically impractical to achieve complete remediation of the substances for which the groundwater enforcement standards will be exceeded.
- (c) This section shall not apply to the regulation of per-and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in the following Rules:
 - (1) <u>Indirect Discharge Rule (sewage permits only);</u>
 - (2) Stormwater Management Rule;
 - (3) Stormwater Management Rule for Stormwater-Impaired Waters; and
 - (4) Wastewater System and Potable Water Supply Rules (for wastewater systems only).

§ 12-605 BACKGROUND GROUNDWATER QUALITY

- (a) Application for determining background groundwater quality. A person seeking to establish background groundwater quality, in a particular area, for a substance for which a groundwater enforcement standard has been established shall submit the following to the Secretary for the Secretary's review and approval, prior to conducting sampling:
 - (1) Information describing the aquifer structure and groundwater flow regime developed by a qualified hydrogeologist, utilizing information from current and historic federal, state, and municipal data sources, and identifying, modeling, and addressing the following site components within the for the area of interest:

- (A) bedrock and surficial geology (e.g. rock type, depositional environment);
- (B) geological structure (e.g. fracture pattern, jointing, lineaments);
- (C) soils (e.g. thickness, stratification, hydraulic properties);
- (D) aquifer types;
- (E) groundwater flow, including estimated recharge and discharge areas;
- (F) all existing uses of groundwater proposed to be reclassified, including high potential risk activities and moderate potential risk activities; and
- (G) potential sources causing or contributing to contamination.
- (2) A sampling and monitoring plan prepared by a qualified hydrogeologist that will produce data representative of the groundwater quality conditions at and around the area of interest. The plan shall identify, at a minimum, the following:
 - (A) the number of monitoring wells that will be sampled;
 - (B) the location and depth of the monitoring wells, which shall be selected so as to be geologically and geochemically similar to the area of interest and to be unaffected by current and historic activities at the site, including by being hydrogeologically upgradient of such activities if possible;
 - (C) the number and frequency of the samples to be taken from the monitoring wells and any existing sources of water for potable water supplies, public water sources, or non-potable wells or springs;
 - (D) the sampling methodology;
 - (E) the substances to be analyzed in the samples that are collected;
 - (F) the analytical methods to be used in conducting the sample analysis;
 - (G) identification of whether samples obtained prior to the approval of the monitoring plan will be used as data points and, if so, the sampling date, location, method of analysis for each of the samples to be used; and
 - (H) a quality assurance/quality control plan for sample collection, testing, and analysis.
- (3) The Secretary may request additional information from an applicant when the Secretary determines that the sampling and monitoring plan may not provide data representative of the groundwater quality at and around the area of interest.

- (b) Following the Secretary's approval of the information submitted pursuant to Subsection (a)(1) and of the sampling and monitoring plan, as well as the completion of sampling, the person seeking to establish background groundwater quality shall submit a background groundwater quality report to the Secretary. The report shall include the following:
 - (1) All sampling results and data collected pursuant to the approved monitoring and sampling plan.
 - (2) An analysis of all data collected pursuant to the approved monitoring and sampling plan.
 - (3) Any discrepancies between the approved sampling and monitoring plan and the sampling completed for the area of interest.
 - (4) A proposed background groundwater concentration of all substances for which the person seeks to establish background groundwater quality and a justification for each concentration. The justification may include statistical analysis.
 - (5) Additional information the Secretary determines is necessary to approve or deny the proposed background groundwater concentrations.
- (c) Following submission of the background groundwater quality report to the Secretary, the Secretary shall approve or deny the proposed background groundwater concentrations or may establish alternative background groundwater concentrations based on the background groundwater quality report. The Secretary may consult with the groundwater coordinating committee prior to making a final determination regarding background groundwater concentrations.

§ 12-606 PREVENTIVE ACTIONS

- (a) If groundwater monitoring indicates the presence in groundwater of a substance in an amount exceeding the preventive action level at a compliance point that a permitted activity is causing or contributing to, the permittee shall, within 45 calendar days of the detection, submit to the Secretary a report that includes:
 - (1) a description of the potential sources of the substance and causes of any exceedance of the preventive action levels;
 - (2) identification of the substances detected and their detection limits;
 - (3) copies of all sampling data;

- (4) a description of the reliability of the sampling data, including the quality of the sampling data, sampling procedures, precision and accuracy of the analytical test, size of the data set, and quality control and quality assurance procedures used;
- (5) recommendations regarding whether any actions should be taken to prevent an exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at a compliance point; and
- (6) identification of any background groundwater concentration approved by the Secretary pursuant to Section 12-605 of this Rule.
- (b) The Secretary may:
 - (1) Request additional information.
 - (2) Require the permitee to take such actions as the Secretary determines to be necessary to prevent exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards.
- (c) In determining what actions to require, the Secretary shall consider any background groundwater concentration approved by the Secretary pursuant to Section 12-605 of this Rule.

§ 12-607 CORRECTIVE ACTIONS

- (a) If groundwater monitoring indicates contamination at a compliance point that a permitted activity is causing or contributing to, the permittee shall:
 - (1) Immediately notify the Secretary of the detection.
 - (2) Within 10 calendar days following the detection, submit to the Secretary an initial report that includes:
 - (A) a description of the potential sources of contamination and causes of any exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards;
 - (B) identification of the substances detected and their detection limits; and
 - (C) the known impacts on groundwater.
 - (3) Within 30 calendar days, or alternative time period approved by the Secretary, following the detection, submit to the Secretary a supplemental report that includes:
 - (A) Copies of all sampling data.

- (B) A description of the reliability of the sampling data, including the quality of the sampling data, sampling procedures, precision and accuracy of the analytical test, size of the data set, and quality control and quality assurance procedures used.
- (C) A description of the human health and environmental impact of the detection, including the substance's mobility in the subsurface, environmental fate, risk posed by the substance, whether the substance has carcinogenic, mutagenic, or developmental toxicity properties, and whether the substance has interactive effects with other substances.
- (D) An evaluation addressing each of the following and that the Secretary may require be completed by an independent consultant: the effectiveness of the activity as permitted, including any conditions of the permit, in preventing contamination; an evaluation of whether the activity, as designed, constructed, and operated, is performing in accordance with the permit and governing law; and an evaluation of whether design or operational changes would reduce the concentration of the substance in the groundwater.
- (E) Identification of any background groundwater concentration approved by the Secretary pursuant to Section 12-605 of this Rule for the substance and analysis of whether background conditions are causing or contributing to the exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at a point of compliance.
- (F) Identification of the presence of other potential sources of contamination.
- (G) A description of the geologic and hydrogeologic conditions at the site, including the nature, thickness, and permeability of the unconsolidated materials; the nature and permeability of the bedrock; the depth to the water table; groundwater flow gradients, both vertical and horizontal; and the position of the activity within the groundwater flow system.
- (H) Identification of all existing uses of groundwater in the vicinity of the activity, a visual survey of uses in the vicinity of the activity, and an identification of all receptors in the vicinity of the activity that could potentially be affected.
- (I) Identification of permitted activities in the vicinity of the activity.
- (J) A copy of the petition to reclassify groundwater to Class IV if the person has submitted, or the Secretary has directed the person to submit, such a petition pursuant to Section 12-503 of this Rule.
- (K) Any other information that the Secretary deems necessary to ensure an appropriate response is required for the exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards.

- (b) Based on the nature and degree of the substance that is in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards, and the possible receptors of the contaminated groundwater, the Secretary may require the permittee to take immediate actions to abate the risk to human health or the environment. These actions may include ceasing the activity involved; providing alternative sources of drinking water; providing treatment for affected sources of water for potable water supplies and public water sources; conducting a response action to contain the release; installation of monitoring wells; and the collection of additional samples.
- (c) Based on an evaluation of all information available to the Secretary, including the initial and supplemental reports, the Secretary shall determine whether any response to the detection, beyond any immediate actions required pursuant to Subsection (b), is required in order to remediate the contamination to eliminate exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards.
 - (1) The Secretary may determine that the permittee is not required to undertake additional responsive actions:
 - (A) if the permittee demonstrates, to the satisfaction of the Secretary, that the detection of the substance in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards is solely attributable to a background groundwater concentration approved by the Secretary pursuant to Section 12-605 of this Rule and that the person's actions did not cause or contribute to the detected levels; or
 - (B) if the permittee demonstrates, to the satisfaction of the Secretary, that the detection is solely attributable to a source not under the control of the person and that the person's actions did not cause or contribute to the detected levels.
 - (2) Unless the Secretary determines, pursuant to Subsection (c)(1), that no additional responsive actions are necessary, the Secretary shall require the permittee to implement a remediation plan with the goals of eliminating exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards at points of compliance and enabling the groundwater to be classified as Class III.
 - (A) The Secretary may require the following actions as part of the remediation plan:
 - (i) installation of new or additional monitoring wells or alternative contaminant investigation methodologies;
 - (ii) change in the monitoring program, including increased monitoring;
 - (iii) investigation of the extent of contamination;
 - (iv) change in the operation of the activity;

		·		
			·	
				_

- (v) modification in the design of the activity;
- (vi) adoption of alternate method of waste treatment or disposal;
- (vii) ceasing of the activity or closure and abandonment of the activity;
- (viii) implementation of corrective action to restore groundwater quality:
- (ix) removal of contaminated soils;
- (x) submission of appropriate permit or permit amendment applications if permits or permit amendments are required for any of these responsive actions;
- (xi) submission of a petition to reclassify groundwater to Class IV; and
- (xii) any other action necessary to remediate the contamination.
- (B) The Secretary may authorize actions as part of the remediation plan that may result in continued exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standard if the Secretary determines that the action will not adversely affect an existing use of groundwater and that it is technically impractical to achieve complete remediation of the contamination.
- (C) For activities subject to the Investigation and Remediation of Contaminated Properties Rule, the remediation plan may take the form of a corrective action plan required pursuant to 10 V.S.A. § 6615b.
- (d) If the Secretary determines that the source of the contamination and cause of the exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standard is an action not subject to this Rule, the Secretary shall:
 - (1) Notify the appropriate local, State, or Federal authorities of the action and submit evidence demonstrating the action is causing or contributing to the exceedance.
 - (2) Cooperate with the appropriate local, State, or Federal Authorities in determining the appropriate response.
- (e) Notwithstanding the timeframes established by this Section, the Secretary and the person responsible for the activity may agree on an alternative timeframe for the submittal of a report.

APPENDIX ONE

Table 1: Groundwater Enforcement Standards, Vermont Action Levels, and Preventive Action Levels

Bolded values indicate values that have been revised or added since the December 16, 2016 Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy.

Substance	CAS No.	Groundwaier Enforcement Sentem		
		ing/L(a)	mg/Li ^(c)	10g/L ₍₂₀₎
Acetone	67-64-1	950		475
Alachlor	15972-60-8	2		0.2
Aldicarb	116-06-3	1 ^(b)		1 ^(c)
Aldicarb sulfone	1646-88-4	1 ^(b)		1 ^(c)
Aldicarb sulfoxide	1646-87-3	1 ^(b)		1 ^(c)
Aldrin	309-00-2	0.1		0.1
Aminoethyl ethanolamine (AEEA)	111-41-1	20		2
Ammonium sulfamate	7773-06-0	914		457
Anthracene	120-12-7	343		171
Antimony	7740-36-0	6		3
Arsenic	7440-38-2	10		1
Asbestos	1332-21-4	7E+6 fibers/L (longer than 10μm)		7E+5 fibers/L (longer than 10μm)
Atrazine	1912-24-9	3		2
Barium	7440-39-3	2000		1000
Bendiocarb	22781-23-3	2		1

Stripakiuse	CAS IND.			Pegranifire Algimi Level
		Semend Tugál ^{jen}	jpg/Li ^{o)}	Jug/L ^{rs)}
Benomyl	17804-35-2	10		1
Benzene	71-43-2	5	0.5	0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene	50-32-8	0.2		0.1
Beryllium	7440-41-7	4		1
Beta particle and photon radioactivity	N/A	4 millirems/yr		50 pCi/L ^(d)
Bis(2-chloro-1-methyl ethyl) ether	108-60-1	46		5
Boron	7440-42-8	870		87
Bromacil	314-40-9	111		11
Bromochloromethane	74-97-5	8		0.8
Bromomethane (Methyl bromide)	74-83-9	5		0.5
Butylate	2008-41-5	114		57
Cadmium	7440-43-9	5		1
Carbofuran	1563-66-2	40		20
Carbon tetrachloride	56-23-5	5	0.5	0.5
Chloramben	133-90-4	69		34
Chlordane	12789-03-6	2 .		0.44
Chlorine	7782-50-5	4000	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	2000
Chlorobenzene	108-90-7	100		50
Chlorpyrifos	2921-88-2	20		10
Chromium (total)	7440-47-3	100		50
Copper	7440-50-8	1300		650

Substance	CAS No.	Gramilweiter Universen Semilari	Vermoni Acinon Level	Prevantive Avetlan Level
		ing/L ^(a)	ng/L ⁽ⁿ⁾	ng/La)
Cyanazine	21725-46-2	1		0.5
Cyanide	143-33-9	200		100
Dalapon	75-99-0	200		100
Dazomet	533-74-4	88		44
Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate	103-23-1	400		200
Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate	117-81-7	6		3
Diazinon	333-41-5	0.6		0.3
Dibromochloropropane	96-12-8	0.2	0.02	0.02
Dichlorobenzene (meta)	541-73-1	600		300
Dichlorobenzene (ortho)	95-50-1	600		300
Dichlorobenzene (para)	106-46-7	75		38
Dichloroethane (1,1)	75-34-3	70		35
Dichloroethane (1,2)	107-06-2	5	0.5	0.5
Dichloroethene (1,1)	75-35-4	7		0.7
Dichloroethene (cis-1,2)	156-59-2	70		35
Dichloroethene (trans-1,2)	156-60-5	100		50
Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4)	94-75-7	70		7
Dichloroprop	120-36-5	140		14
Dichloropropane (1,2)	78-87-5	5	0.5	0.5
Dieldrin	60-57-1	0.02		0.02
Diethylenetriamine (DETA)	111-40-0	5154		515

Substance	CASNO	Groundweter Unforsamant	Wernout Avelon Level	Persentys Agnoriays
		Semieri		
		ing/L _(E)	mg/Li ^{EX}	ng/L(n)
Dimethrin	70-38-2	2000	A CONTRACTOR OF THE PROPERTY O	1000
Dinoseb	88-85-7	7		0.7
Dioxane (1,4)	123-91-1	0.3		0.3
Diphenamid	957-51-7	200		100
Diquat	85-00-7	20		10
Disulfoton	298-04-4	0.3		0.03
Diuron	330-54-1	10		5
Endothall	145-73-3	100		50
Endrin	72-20-8	2		1
Erioglaucine	2650-18-2	7211		3606
Ethylbenzene	100-41-4	700		350
Ethylene dibromide	106-93-4	0.05	-	0.01
Fenamiphos	22224-92-6	2		1
Fluoranthene	206-44-0	46		23
Fluorene	86-73-7	46	· · ·	23
Fluoride	7681-49-4	4000		2000
Fonofos	944-22-9	10		5
Formaldehyde	50-00-0	1000		100
Glyphosate	1071-83-6	700		70
Gross Alpha (adjusted) ^(e)	NA	15 pCi/L	· .	5 pCi/L
Halofenozide	112226-61-6	46		23

Snrbs(arnge	CASIVO	Croundwater	Verindiri	Preventive
		Enforcement	ieveil norge	
		Senderd -		
		$m_{\tilde{b}/\Gamma(0)}$	havr _e	ES/F(E)
Heptachlor	76-44-8	0.4		0.088
Heptachlor epoxide	1024-57-3	0.2		0.06
Hexachlorobenzene	118-74-1	1	0.1	0.1
Hexachlorocyclopentadiene	77-47-4	50		25
Hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX)	121-82-4	0.3		0.3
Hexafluoropropylene Oxide Dimer Acid (HFPO-DA or GenX)	13252-13-6	0.010 ^(f)		0.0020
Lead	7439-92-1	15		2
Lindane	58-89-9	0.2		0.1
Maneb	12427-38-2	35		18
Manganese	7439-96-5	300		150
Mercury (inorganic)	7487-94-7	2		0.5
Methoxychlor	72-43-5	40		4
Methyl ethyl ketone	78-93-3	511		255
Methyl parathion	298-00-0	2		1 .
Methyl tert butyl ether (MTBE)	1634-04-4	11		5
Methylene chloride	75-09-2	5		0.5
Metolachlor	51218-45-2	70		35
Molybdenum	7439-98-7	6		3
Naphthalene	91-20-3	0.5		0.5
Nickel	7440-02-0	100		50

Sabaras	CASNO.	Eughseinem Eughseinem		Preventive Aletton Level
		Sentari ng/L ^{e)}	ng/L ⁽ⁿ⁾	ug/La
Nitrate (as N)	14797-55-8	10000		5000
Nitrates/Nitrites (total)	NA	10000		5000
Nitrite (as N)	14797-65-0	1000		500
O-Phenylphenol	90-43-7	764		76
Octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro- 1,2,3,5,7- tetrazocine (HMX)	2691-41-0	.57		29
Oxamyl	23135-22-0	200		100
Paraquat	1910-42-5	30		3
Pentachlorophenol	87-86-5	1	0.1	0.1
Pentaerythriol tetranitrate (PETN)	78-11-5	2		1
Perchlorate	1479-73-0	2		1 .
Perfluorohexane sulfonic acid (PFHxS)	355-46-4	0.010 0.02 ^(f)		0.0020 0.002 ^(g)
Perfluoroheptanoic acid (PFHpA)	375-85-9	0.02 ^(f)		0.002 ^(g)
Perfluorononanoic acid (PFNA)	375-95-1	0.010 0.02 ^(f)		0.0020 0.002 ^(g)
Perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS)	1763-23-1	0.0040 0.02(f)		0.0020 0.002 ^(g)
Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA)	335-67-1	0.0040 0.02(4)		0.0020 0.002 ^(g)
Picloram	1918-02-1	500		250
Polychlorinated Biphenyls	1336-36-3	0.5		0.25
Propachlor	1918-16-7	90		45

Shipshinge	CAS No.	Grandlyeis Entresmin Sendrif	Vənindoi Aleiton Level	Proventive Action Level
		02/L ^(a)	ng/L(a)	HEAL (3)
Propham	122-42-9	100		50
Radium226 & 228	7440-14-4	5 pCi/L		0.5 pCi/L
Radon	010043-92-2	4000 pCi/L		400 pCi/L
Selenium	7782-49-2	50		25
Simazine	122-34-9	4		2
Styrene	100-42-5	100		10
Tall oil hydroxyethyl imidazoline	61791-39-7	118		59
Tartrazine	1934-21-0	1905		952
Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (2,3,7,8)	1746-01-6	3.00E-05		1.10E-05
Tetrachloroethane (1,1,1,2)	630-20-6	70		35
Tetrachloroethylene	127-18-4	5	1	0.5
Thallium	7440-28-0	2		1
Toluene	108-88-3	1000		500
Toxaphene	8001-35-2	3		2
Trichlorobenzene (1,2,3)	87-61-6	0.9		0.5
Trichlorobenzene (1,2,4)	120-82-1	70		35
Trichloroethane (1,1,1)	71-55-6	200		100
Trichloroethane (1,1,2)	79-00-5	5		3
Trichloroethylene	79-01-6	5	0.5	0.5
Trichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4,5)	93-76-5	70		7

Substance	CAS No.	Groundwater Enforcement Standard µg/L ^(a)	Vermont Action Level µg/L ^(a)	Preventive Action Level µg/L ^(a)
Trichlorophenoxypropionic acid (2,4,5)	93-72-1	50		25
Trichloropropane (1,2,3)	96-18-4	0.02	Es UTE,	0.02
Triclopyr	55335-06-3	165		83
Trimethyl benzene (1,2,3) (1,2,3-TMB)	526-73-8	23 ^{(f)(h)}	2 -	2(<u>e)(i)</u>
Trimethyl benzene (1,2,4) (1,2,4-TMB)	95-63-6	23 ^(h)		2 ⁽ⁱ⁾
Trimethyl benzene (1,3,5) (1,3,5-TMB)	108-67-8	23 ^{(f)(h)}		2 ^{(g)(i)}
Trinitrotoluene (2,4,6) (TNT)	118-96-7	0.8		0.3
Uranium	7440-61-1	20		2
Vinyl chloride	75-01-4	2	0.5	0.5
Xylenes	1330-20-7	10000	20	5000
Zineb	142-14-3	350		175

PFAS Hazard Index

For a mixture of two or more of the PFAS identified below, the results shall be placed in the following formula and if the hazard index is greater than one, it shall be a violation of the groundwater enforcement standard:

$$\text{Hazard Index } = \left(\frac{[\text{GenX}_{\text{water}}]}{[\text{10 ppt}]}\right) + \left(\frac{[\text{PFBS}_{\text{water}}]}{[\text{2000 ppt}]}\right) + \left(\frac{[\text{PFNA}_{\text{water}}]}{[\text{10 ppt}]}\right) + \left(\frac{[\text{PFHxS}_{\text{water}}]}{[\text{10 ppt}]}\right)$$

There is not a preventative action level for this hazard index.

Notes:

- (a) All units are micrograms per Liter (μ g/L) (i.e., parts per billion (ppb)), unless otherwise noted.
- (b) Groundwater Enforcement Standard of 1 μ g/L for any combination of Aldicarb, Aldicarb sulfone and Aldicarb sulfoxide.
- (c) Preventive Action Level of 1 µg/L for any combination of Aldicarb, Aldicarb sulfone and Aldicarb sulfoxide.
- (d) Notwithstanding Section 12-602(1) and (2), the Preventive Action Level is based on the Safe Drinking Water Act monitoring requirements, not as a percentage of the Groundwater Enforcement Standard. See 40 C.F.R. §§ 141.16 and 141.26.
- (e) Adjusted Gross Alpha excludes Uranium and Radon.
- (f) Groundwater Enforcement Standard of 0.02 ug/L for any combination of PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, PFHpA, and PFNA.
- (g) Preventive Action Level of 0.002 ug/L for any combination of PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, PFHpA, and PFNA.
- (f)(h) Groundwater Enforcement Standard of 23 ug/L for any combination of 1,2,3-TMB, 1,2,4-TMB, and 1,3,5-TMB isomers.
- (g)(i) Preventive Action Level of 2 ug/L for any combination of 1,2,3-TMB, 1,2,4-TMB, and 1,3,5-TMB isomers.

clean Copy

STATE OF VERMONT Agency of Natural Resources Department of Environmental Conservation

Chapter 12 of the Environmental Protection Rules:

GROUNDWATER PROTECTION RULE AND STRATEGY

Adopted Date:	
---------------	--

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUBCHAPT	ER 1 – GENERAL PROVISIONS	4
§ 12-101	AUTHORITY	4
§ 12-102	PURPOSE	4
§ 12-103	APPLICABILITY	4
§ 12-104	PROVISIONS FOR INCORPORATION	5
§ 12-105	CLASSES OF GROUNDWATER	5
§ 12 - 106	SEVERABILITY	6
SUBCHAPT	ER 2 – DEFINITIONS	7
§ 12-201	DEFINITIONS	7
SUBCHAPT	ER 3 – PUBLIC TRUST	12
§ 12-301	PUBLIC TRUST USES OF GROUNDWATER; GROUNDWATER 12	R QUALITY
§ 12-302	PERMITTING DETERMINATION	13
§ 12-303	GENERAL PRESUMPTION OF COMPLIANCE	15
SUBCHAPT	ER 4 – MANAGEMENT OF GROUNDWATER	16
§ 12-401	MANAGEMENT OF CLASS I GROUNDWATER	16
§ 12-402	MANAGEMENT OF CLASS II GROUNDWATER	16
§ 12-403	MANAGEMENT OF CLASS III GROUNDWATER	17
§ 12-404	MANAGEMENT OF CLASS IV GROUNDWATER	17
SUBCHAPT	ER 5 – GROUNDWATER RECLASSIFICATION PROCESS	19
§ 12-501	POLICY FOR GROUNDWATER RECLASSIFICATION	19
§ 12 - 502	RECLASSIFICATION OF GROUNDWATER TO CLASS IV	19
§ 12 - 503	RECLASSIFICATION PETITION	21
§ 12 - 504	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REQUIRED	24
§ 12-505	PUBLIC PARTICIPATION	27
§ 12-506	RECLASSIFICATION DECISION	29
	ER 6 – STANDARDS; BACKGROUND GROUNDWATER QUA	
PREVENTI	VE AND CORRECTIVE ACTIONS	
§ 12-601	ESTABLISHMENT OF GROUNDWATER ENFORCEMENT STA	ANDARDS

APPENDIX (ONE	41
§ 12-607	CORRECTIVE ACTIONS	37
§ 12-606	PREVENTIVE ACTIONS	36
§ 12-605	BACKGROUND GROUNDWATER QUALITY	34
§ 12-604	PERMITTING PROHIBITIONS	34
§ 12-603	ESTABLISHMENT OF COMPLIANCE POINTS	31
§ 12-602	ESTABLISHMENT OF PREVENTIVE ACTION LEVELS	31

SUBCHAPTER 1 – GENERAL PROVISIONS

§ 12-101 AUTHORITY

This Rule is adopted by the Secretary under the authority granted by 10 V.S.A §§ 1390-1394.

§ 12-102 PURPOSE

It is the purpose of this Rule to establish the following:

- (1) a system of management for the different classes of groundwater;
- (2) a process for the reclassification of groundwater;
- (3) standards for the protection of groundwater quality;
- (4) processes that must be incorporated into regulatory programs to ensure that activities that present a potential threat to groundwater are designed, managed, and permitted to protect groundwater resources; and
- (5) a system to protect the groundwater resources that are held in trust for the public.

§ 12-103 APPLICABILITY

This Rule applies to all activities that are subject to the following Agency rules:

- (1) Solid Waste Management Rules;
- (2) Hazardous Waste Management Regulations;
- (3) Underground Storage Tank Rules;
- (4) Aboveground Storage Tank Rules;
- (5) Salvage Yard Rule;
- (6) Underground Injection Control Regulations;
- (7) Indirect Discharge Rule;
- (8) Stormwater Management Rule;
- (9) Stormwater Management Rule for Stormwater-Impaired Waters;

- (10) Wastewater System and Potable Water Supply Rules (for wastewater systems only); and
- (11) Investigation and Remediation of Contaminated Properties Rule.

§ 12-104 PROVISIONS FOR INCORPORATION

- (a) The Secretary, within five years of adoption of this Rule or prior to filing any proposed changes to a rule listed in Section 12-103 of this Rule with the Interagency Committee on Administrative Rules, whichever is sooner, shall review and revise as necessary each rule listed in Section 12-103 of this Rule to ensure the rule:
 - (1) Incorporates the following:
 - (A) restrictions on activities permitted in areas of each class of groundwater, from Subchapter 4 of this Rule;
 - (B) identification of compliance points, from Sections 12-603 of this Rule;
 - (C) procedure for requiring preventive and corrective actions, from Sections 12-606 and 12-607 of this Rule; and
 - (D) permitting prohibitions, from Section 12-604 of this Rule.
 - (2) Applies the groundwater enforcement standards and preventive actions levels established in Sections 12-601 and 12-602 of this Rule.
 - (3) Does not permit an activity that will adversely affect public trust uses.
- (b) Subsequent to the initial review and revision required in Subsection (a), every seven years thereafter the Secretary shall review, and revise if necessary, the rules listed in Section 12-103 of this Rule to assure continued conformance with Subsection (a).

§ 12-105 CLASSES OF GROUNDWATER

- (a) The following groundwater classifications have been established by statute:
 - (1) Class I. Suitable for public water system. Character uniformly excellent. No exposure to activities which pose a risk to its current or potential use as a public water system.
 - (2) Class II. Suitable for public water system. Character uniformly excellent but exposed to activities which may pose a risk to its current or potential use as a public water system.

- (3) Class III. Suitable as a source of water for a potable water supply, irrigation, agricultural use, and general industrial and commercial use.
- (4) Class IV. Not suitable as a source of water for a potable water supply but suitable for some agricultural, industrial, and commercial use, provided the Secretary may authorize, subject to conditions, use as a source of potable water supply or other use under a reclassification order issued for the aquifer.
- (b) Unless reclassified, all groundwater in the State is Class III.

§ 12-106 SEVERABILITY

The provisions of this Rule are severable. If any provision of this Rule is found to be invalid, or if any application of this Rule to any person or circumstance is found to be invalid, the invalidity shall not affect other provisions that can be given effect in the absence of the invalid provision or application.

SUBCHAPTER 2 – DEFINITIONS

§ 12-201 DEFINITIONS

As used in this Rule, the following terms shall have the specified meaning.

- (1) "Agency" means the Agency of Natural Resources.
- (2) "Activity" means all activities to which this Rule applies, as identified in Section 12-103 of this Rule.
- (3) "Aquifer" means a water bearing stratum of permeable rock, sand, gravel, or other soils.
- (4) "Background groundwater concentration" means the amount of a naturally occurring substance present in groundwater absent human actions or influence.
- (5) "Compliance point" means point of compliance as defined in this Subsection.
- (6) "Contamination" means the presence in groundwater of a substance in an amount exceeding the groundwater enforcement standard established for the substance.
- (7) "Existing use of groundwater" means any present use of groundwater, including use for potable water supplies, public water systems, and agricultural uses and all other non-potable groundwater uses.
- (8) "General permit" means a permit that applies to a class or category of discharges, emissions, disposal, facilities, or activities within a common geographic area, including the entire State or a region of the State.
- (9) "Groundwater" means water below the land surface in a zone of saturation.
- (10) "Groundwater enforcement standards" are those standards adopted pursuant to Section 12-601 of this Rule and contained in Appendix One.
- (11) "High potential risk activities" means the following activities:
 - (A) a solid waste landfill, except those that are closed in accordance with an enforcement action or a certification under the Solid Waste Management Rules;
 - (B) a hazardous waste treatment or disposal facility;
 - (C) the storage of a regulated substance in an underground storage tank with a capacity greater than 1,100 gallons;

- (D) the storage of a regulated substance in an aboveground storage tank with a capacity greater than 1,100 gallons;
- (E) an automobile graveyard, as defined by 24 V.S.A. § 2241;
- (F) a new indirect discharge of sewage using a disposal system with a design capacity greater than 50,000 gallons per day;
- (G) the land application of biosolids or stabilized septage; and
- (H) injection wells.
- (12) "Indirect discharge system" means an indirect discharge, as defined in the Indirect Discharge Rules, that is issued a discharge permit pursuant to the Indirect Discharge Rules.
- (13) "Individual permit" means a permit that authorizes a specific discharge, emission, disposal, facility, or activity that contains terms and conditions that are specific to the discharge, emission, disposal, facility, or activity.
- (14) "Injection well" means injection well, as defined in the Underground Injection Control Regulations, the discharge to which is issued a discharge permit, or otherwise permitted, pursuant to the Underground Injection Control Regulations.
- (15) "Moderate potential risk activities" means the following activities:
 - (A) the storage of a regulated substance in an underground storage tank with a capacity less than or equal to 1,100 gallons;
 - (B) the storage of a regulated substance in an aboveground storage tank with a capacity less than or equal to 1,100 gallons;
 - (C) a solid waste storage or transfer facility with a leachate collection system;
 - (D) a hazardous waste storage facility;
 - (E) a hazardous waste generator that meets the requirements of Section 7-308(a) of the Vermont Hazardous Waste Management Regulations (Large Quantity Generators); and
 - (F) a new indirect discharge of sewage using a disposal system with a design with a capacity less than 50,000 gallons per day.

- (16) "Monitoring well" means a device used to monitor the depth or elevation of the piezometric surface, or groundwater quality, quantity, or both.
- (17) "New indirect discharge system" means either a new indirect discharge of sewage or a new indirect discharge of non-sewage waste, as defined in the Indirect Discharge Rules.
- (18) "Non-potable groundwater" means groundwater that is not potable groundwater or that will not be potable groundwater for at least five years, or is scientifically predicted to become unsuitable as a source of potable groundwater within five years.
- (19) "Permit" means a permit, certification, license, registration, determination, or similar form of permission required from the Secretary by law. However, the term excludes a professional license issued pursuant to 10 V.S.A. §§ 1936 (UST inspector licenses), 6607 (hazardous waste transporters), and 6607a (waste transportation).
- (20) "Person" means any individual, partnership, company, corporation, cooperative, association, unincorporated association, joint venture, trust, the state of Vermont or any department, agency, subdivision, or municipality, the United States government or any department, agency, or subdivision, or any other legal or commercial entity.
- (21) "Point of compliance" means the locations identified in Section 12-603 of this Rule.
- (22) "Potable groundwater" means groundwater meeting groundwater enforcement standards.
- (23) "Potable water supply" means potable water supply as defined in the Wastewater System and Potable Water Supply Rules.
- (24) "Proposed," in reference to a public water source, means proposed in an application for a public water source permit or proposed in a petition to reclassify groundwater.
- (25) "Public trust use" means those uses of groundwater designated in this Rule as uses for which groundwater is held in the public trust. Public trust uses include existing and future uses of groundwater. Public trust uses can be competing uses.
- (26) "Public water source" means any groundwater used, or permitted to be used, as a source of drinking water for a public water system.
- (27) "Public water source protection area" means public water source protection area as defined in the Water Supply Rule.

- (28) "Public water system" means public water system as defined in the Water Supply Rule.
- (29) "Qualified Hydrogeologist" means a person with training or experience in hydrogeology, surficial geology, and bedrock geology sufficient to adequately prepare the hydrogeologic studies and analyses required by this Rule.
- (30) "Receptor" means any natural or human-constructed feature that may be adversely affected when contacted by groundwater that contains a substance in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards. Examples of receptors include public water sources, sources of water for potable water supplies, surface waters, wetlands, soils, sensitive ecological areas, outdoor and indoor air, and enclosed spaces such as basements, sewers, and subsurface utilities.
- (31) "Secretary" means the Secretary of the Agency of Natural Resources or the Secretary's duly authorized representative.
- (32) "Stormwater hotspot" means an area that generates higher concentrations of hydrocarbons, trace metals, and toxicants than are found in typical stormwater runoff.
- (33) "Technically impractical to achieve complete remediation" means a situation where the Secretary has determined, using the following factors, that it is impractical to remediate contamination to eliminate exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards:
 - (A) the nature of the subsurface geology;
 - (B) the types and physical properties of the substances in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards;
 - (C) the sources of contamination and causes of any exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards;
 - (D) the amount of any hazardous material released;
 - (E) the date of the original release into the groundwater of the substances in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards (i.e., age of contamination);
 - (F) the fate and transport of the substances in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards;

- (G) whether technology or methods exist that can remediate the contamination to eliminate exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards;
- (H) whether remediation of the contamination to eliminate exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards would result in greater harm to human health or the environment than either lesser remediation or no remediation;
- (I) the cost effectiveness of remediation as measured by the cost of the technology or methods for remediation relative to the tangible environmental and health benefits to any receptor of the contaminated groundwater; and
- (J) any other factors the Secretary determines are relevant.
- (34) "Vermont Action Levels" means the numeric guidelines reached and derived by the Vermont Department of Health for particular chemicals that have Maximum Contaminant Levels promulgated by the United State Environmental Protection Agency and are of specific public health interest as determined by the Vermont Department of Health.
- (35) "Wastewater System" means wastewater system as defined in the Wastewater System and Potable Water Supply Rules.

SUBCHAPTER 3 – PUBLIC TRUST

§ 12-301 PUBLIC TRUST USES OF GROUNDWATER; GROUNDWATER QUALITY

- (a) It is the policy of the State that the groundwater resources of the State are held in trust for the public.
- (b) This policy is accomplished in part by regulating groundwater withdrawal pursuant to the Groundwater Withdrawal Reporting and Permitting Rules, in a manner that benefits the people of the state and is compatible with long-range water resource planning, proper management, and use of the water resources of Vermont. This policy is also accomplished in part by minimizing the risks of groundwater quality deterioration by regulating human activities, pursuant to this Rule, that present risks to the use of groundwater in the vicinities of such activities while balancing the State's groundwater policy with the need to maintain and promote a healthy and prosperous agricultural community.
- (c) The following uses of groundwater are protected as public trust uses:
 - (1) withdrawal for fire suppression or other public emergency purposes;
 - (2) withdrawal for domestic, residential use;
 - (3) withdrawal for farming, as that term is defined in 6 V.S.A. Chapter 215, that is in compliance with the requirements of 6 V.S.A. Chapter 215;
 - (4) withdrawal for dairy processing conducted by dairy processors and milk handlers licensed in accordance with 6 V.S.A. § 2721;
 - (5) potable water supplies;
 - (6) public water systems; and
 - (7) closed loop, standing column, or similar non-extractive geothermal heat pumps.
- (d) This subchapter shall not apply to the regulation of per-and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in the following Rules:
 - (1) Indirect Discharge Rule (sewage permits only);
 - (2) Stormwater Management Rule;
 - (3) Stormwater Management Rule for Stormwater-Impaired Waters; and

(4) Wastewater System and Potable Water Supply Rules (for wastewater systems only).

§ 12-302 PERMITTING DETERMINATION

- (a) An activity that is proposed for initial permitting or expansion and requires an individual permit shall not be permitted unless:
 - (1) the activity is presumed, pursuant to Section 12-303, to not adversely affect public trust uses and not to violate Section 604(a) of this Rule; or
 - (2) the Secretary determines, on a case by case basis, that the activity will not adversely affect public trust uses and will not violate Section 604(a) of this Rule. In order for the Secretary to make this determination, an applicant must submit information sufficient for the Secretary to make each of the following affirmative findings:
 - (A) The activity will not prevent the public's future use of groundwater as a public water source or source of water for a potable water supply. The Secretary may make this finding if the applicant provides information demonstrating that, subsequent to ceasing the activity, the groundwater enforcement standards will not be exceeded at any point on the property on which the activity is to be located.
 - (B) If located within zone one or two of a public water source protection area, the activity is consistent with the purpose of the identified source protection area and of the approved source protection plan.
 - (C) If located within an overlay district established by a municipality pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 4414(2) for the protection of aquifers or public water source protection areas, the activity is not inconsistent with the requirements of that overlay district.
 - (D) The activity will not otherwise adversely affect public trust uses.
 - (E) The activity will not result in an exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at points of compliance, except as indicated in Section 604(b) of this Rule.
- (b) An activity that is proposed for initial permitting or expansion and requires a notice of intent to operate under a general permit shall not be permitted unless:
 - (1) the activity is presumed, pursuant to Subsection (c), to not adversely affect public trust uses and not to violate Section 604(a) of this Rule; or

- (2) the Secretary determines, on a case by case basis, that the activity will not adversely affect public trust uses and will not violate Section 604(a) of this Rule. In order for the Secretary to make this determination, an applicant must submit information sufficient for the Secretary to make each of the affirmative findings listed in Subsection (a)(2).
- (c) An activity that is proposed for initial permitting or expansion and that requires a notice of intent to operate under a general permit is presumed to not adversely affect public trust uses and not to violate Section 604(a) of this Rule when the general permit has been reviewed, and amended if necessary, by the Secretary to assure the general permit includes conditions that:
 - (1) Subject the activity to:
 - (A) performance or technical standards that constitute the best practical treatment and control technology. For the purposes of this Subsection, best practical treatment and control technology means performance or technical standards that the Secretary has determined are reliable and reasonably assure that the requirement in Section 12-302(a)(2)(A) of this Rule is met; or
 - (B) best management practices that constitute the best practical treatment and disposal practices. For the purposes of this Subsection, best practical treatment and disposal practices means a combination of operational requirements and design standards that the Secretary has determined are reliable and reasonably assure that the requirement in Section 12-302(a)(2)(A) of this Rule is met.
 - (2) Subject the activity to such additional performance or technical standards and best management practices that the Secretary deems necessary to ensure that the activity will not adversely affect public trust uses and will not violate Section 604(a) of this Rule.
 - (3) Require the applicant to certify, as part of the notice of intent to operate under the general permit, each of the following:
 - (A) If located within zone one or two of a public water source protection area, the activity is consistent with the purpose of the identified source protection area and of the approved source protection plan.
 - (B) If located within an overlay district established by a municipality pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 4414(2) for the protection of aquifers or public water source protection areas, the activity is not inconsistent with the requirements of that overlay district.

§ 12-303 GENERAL PRESUMPTION OF COMPLIANCE

- (a) An activity that is proposed for initial permitting or expansion is presumed to not adversely affect public trust uses and not to violate Section 604(a) of this Rule when the rules to which the activity is subject have been reviewed, and revised if necessary, by the Secretary to assure the rules:
 - (1) Subject the activity to:
 - (A) performance or technical standards that constitute the best practical treatment and control technology. For the purposes of this Subsection, best practical treatment and control technology means performance or technical standards that the Secretary has determined are reliable and reasonably assure that the requirement in Section 12-302(a)(2)(A) of this Rule is met; or
 - (B) best management practices that constitute the best practical treatment and control practices. For the purposes of this Subsection, best practical treatment and control practices means a combination of operational requirements and design standards that the Secretary has determined are reliable and reasonably assure that the requirement in Section 12-302(a)(2)(A) of this Rule is met.
 - (2) Subject the activity to such additional performance or technical standards and best management practices that the Secretary deems necessary to ensure that the activity will not adversely affect public trust uses and will not violate Section 604(a) of this Rule.
 - (3) Require the applicant to demonstrate as a part of the application process, or certify as part of the notice of intent to operate under the general permit, each of the following:
 - (A) If located within zone one or two of a public water source protection area, the activity is consistent with the purpose of the identified source protection area and of the approved source protection plan.
 - (B) If located within an overlay district established by a municipality pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 4414(2) for the protection of aquifers or public water source protection areas, the activity is not inconsistent with the requirements of that overlay district.
- (b) The general presumption of compliance provided in this section shall not impede the Secretary's ability to take enforcement action if the activity adversely affects public trust uses or results in an exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at points of compliance.

SUBCHAPTER 4 – MANAGEMENT OF GROUNDWATER

§ 12-401 MANAGEMENT OF CLASS I GROUNDWATER

Class I groundwater shall be managed as follows:

- (1) The Secretary shall identify and reclassify groundwater to Class I in accordance with Subchapter 5 of this Rule.
- (2) The Secretary shall not permit high potential risk activities or moderate potential risk activities in Class I groundwater areas;
- (3) The Secretary shall not permit wastewater systems in Class I groundwater areas;
- (4) The Secretary shall not permit stormwater discharge systems that infiltrate to groundwater from stormwater hotspots in Class I groundwater areas.
- (5) The Secretary shall not permit other activities in Class I groundwater areas unless the applicant seeking approval for the activity demonstrates the activity complies with the requirements in Section 12-604 of this Rule.
- (6) The Secretary shall participate in Act 250, Section 248, and Section 248a proceedings when the Secretary determines that the proposed project may present a risk to groundwater quality in a Class I groundwater area and shall recommend that the District Environmental Commissions, in issuing Act 250 Land Use Permits, and the Public Service Board, in issuing Certificates of Public Good, require that the project conforms to this Rule.

§ 12-402 MANAGEMENT OF CLASS II GROUNDWATER

Class II groundwater shall be managed as follows:

- (1) The Secretary shall identify and reclassify groundwater to Class II in accordance with Subchapter 5 of this Rule.
- (2) The Secretary shall not permit high potential risk activities in Class II groundwater areas.
- (3) The Secretary shall not permit other activities in Class II groundwater areas unless the applicant seeking approval for the activity demonstrates the activity complies with the requirements in Section 12-604 of this Rule.

(4) The Secretary may participate in Act 250, Section 248, and Section 248a proceedings when the Secretary determines that the proposed project may present a risk to groundwater quality in a Class II groundwater area, in particular to the purpose for which the groundwater was reclassified as Class II, and may recommend that the District Environmental Commissions, in issuing Act 250 Land Use Permits, and the Public Service Board, in issuing Certificates of Public Good, require that the project conforms to this Rule.

§ 12-403 MANAGEMENT OF CLASS III GROUNDWATER

Class III groundwater shall be managed as follows:

- (1) The Secretary shall not permit activities in Class III groundwater areas unless the applicant seeking approval for an activity demonstrates the activity complies with the requirements in Section 12-604 of this Rule.
- (2) The Secretary may participate in Act 250, Section 248, and Section 248a proceedings when the Secretary determines that the proposed project may present a risk to groundwater quality in a Class III groundwater area and may recommend that the District Environmental Commissions, in issuing Act 250 Land Use Permits, and the Public Service Board, in issuing Certificates of Public Good, require that the project conforms to this Rule.

§ 12-404 MANAGEMENT OF CLASS IV GROUNDWATER

Class IV groundwater shall be managed as follows:

- (1) The Secretary shall not permit activities in a Class IV groundwater area unless the applicant seeking approval for an activity demonstrates the activity complies with the requirements in Section 12-604 of this Rule.
- (2) The Secretary shall not permit sources of water for potable water supplies or public water sources in a Class IV groundwater area, provided the Secretary may authorize, subject to conditions, use as a source of potable water supply or other use under a reclassification order issued for the aquifer.

(3) The Secretary may participate in Act 250, Section 248, and Section 248a proceedings when the Secretary determines that the proposed project may cause or contribute to the deterioration of groundwater quality in a Class IV groundwater area in order to reduce or eliminate the impacts of the proposed project and may recommend that the District Environmental Commissions, in issuing Act 250 Land Use Permits, and the Public Service Board, in issuing Certificates of Public Good, require that the project conforms to this Rule.

SUBCHAPTER 5 – GROUNDWATER RECLASSIFICATION PROCESS

§ 12-501 POLICY FOR GROUNDWATER RECLASSIFICATION

- (a) The Secretary shall encourage and promote the reclassification of groundwater to Class I when the groundwater contains a permitted or existing public water source or has a high probability for use as a public water source, the character is uniformly excellent and there is no exposure to activities that pose a risk to its current or potential use as a public water source.
- (b) The Secretary shall encourage and promote the reclassification of groundwater to Class II when the groundwater has a high probability for use as a public water source and its character is uniformly excellent but exposed to activities that may pose a risk to its current or potential use as a public water source.
- (c) The Secretary shall support the reclassification of groundwater to Class IV when it would further the purpose of protecting human health by limiting human consumption of the groundwater and of returning, if possible, the groundwater to Class III as soon as practical in light of the circumstances, the potential harm, and the sources causing or contributing to contamination.

§ 12-502 RECLASSIFICATION OF GROUNDWATER TO CLASS IV

- (a) The Secretary shall reclassify groundwater to Class IV when the Secretary learns the groundwater enforcement standards have been exceeded at a compliance point and when the Secretary determines that such exceedance is expected to last for five or more years from the date the Secretary learns of the exceedance, or the date of the submission of the reclassification petition, whichever is earlier, except if the Secretary reaches one of the following determinations:
 - (1) Institutional controls have been implemented to address the presence of all contamination such as deed restrictions that limit access to groundwater, municipal ordinances that limit the use of contaminated groundwater, and restrictive easements or covenants.
 - (2) All of the following exist:
 - (A) Groundwater yield is 0.1 gallons per minute or less.
 - (B) No contamination is acting nor will act as a source causing or contributing to contamination in an aquifer with sufficient yield.

- (C) Notice has been recorded and indexed in the land records for the municipality where the lot is located.
- (3) The contamination is not present due to human actions or influence and reclassification would not further the purposes identified in Section 12-501 of this Rule for reclassification of groundwater to Class IV.
- (4) All contamination poses a low risk. For the purposes of this determination, low risk exists when the following conditions are met:
 - (A) The groundwater enforcement standard is not exceeded, and will not be exceeded as a result of the contamination, at a receptor that is a public water source or a source of water for a potable water supply.
 - (B) A notice has been recorded and indexed in the land records for the municipality where the lot is located.
 - (C) A remediation plan required pursuant to Section 12-607 of this Rule or a corrective action plan required pursuant to 10 V.S.A. § 6615b exists for the site and either:
 - (i) the Secretary determines through a technical assessment of the contamination that, within ten years of the date the remediation plan or corrective action plan is initially approved or issued by the Secretary, natural attenuation of each substance will result in compliance with the groundwater enforcement standards at the points of compliance; or
 - (ii) the following two conditions are met:
 - (I) The area is served by municipal water, and there are no public or potable groundwater drinking water sources, or groundwater source protection areas, within 2,000 feet of the points of compliance; and
 - (II) the Secretary determines through technical assessment of the contamination that, within ten years of the date the remediation plan or corrective action plan is initially approved or issued by the Secretary, the groundwater enforcement standards will not be exceeded more than 1,000 feet beyond points of compliance and the plume will be receding.
- (b) The Secretary shall not reclassify groundwater to Class IV in order for it to be used for industrial discharges.
- (c) The Secretary shall require any person or persons who the Secretary determines is causing or contributing to an exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at a point of compliance that is the basis for the reclassification of groundwater to Class IV to take the following actions:

- (1) Submit an initial report with the elements identified in Section 12-606 of this Rule.
- (2) Submit a supplemental report with the elements identified in Section 12-606 of this Rule.
- (3) Take immediate actions to abate the risk to human health or the environment, as described in Section 12-606 of this Rule.
- (4) Implement a remediation plan with the goals of eliminating exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards at points of compliance, as described in Section 12-606 of this Rule, and returning the groundwater to Class III.

§ 12-503 RECLASSIFICATION PETITION

- (a) Petitioners.
 - (1) The following persons may submit a petition to the Secretary to reclassify groundwater:
 - (A) any program or combination of programs within the Agency;
 - (B) the legislative body of the municipality in the area of the proposed reclassification;
 - (C) 25 or more persons affected by the proposed reclassification;
 - (D) any person affected by contamination in the area that could be reclassified to Class IV groundwater;
 - (E) for petitions to reclassify groundwater to Class I or II, the owner of a public water source located in the area of the proposed reclassification; or
 - (F) for petitions to reclassify groundwater from Class IV to Class III, a person who has completed actions authorized in a remediation plan required pursuant to Section 12-607 of this Rule.
 - (2) When required by the Secretary within a remediation plan required pursuant to Section 12-607 of this Rule or a corrective action plan required pursuant to 10 V.S.A. § 6615b, a person who the Secretary determines is causing or contributing to an exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at a point of compliance shall submit a petition to the Secretary to reclassify groundwater to Class IV.

- (b) A petition can be submitted as a standalone document or included and incorporated in a permit application or a supplemental report required pursuant to Section 12-606 of this Rule. When a petition is part of another proceeding, the public participation and other procedural requirements of that proceeding shall apply to the petition.
- (c) Petition. A petition to reclassify groundwater shall, at a minimum, include:
 - (1) Identification of the current classification and proposed reclassification and a description of the need for the proposed reclassification.
 - (2) Information describing the aquifer structure and groundwater flow regime developed by a qualified hydrogeologist, utilizing information from current and historic federal, state, and municipal data sources, and identifying, modeling, and addressing the following site components within the area proposed to be reclassified:
 - (A) bedrock and surficial geology (e.g. rock type, depositional environment);
 - (B) geological structure (e.g. fracture pattern, jointing, lineaments);
 - (C) soils (e.g. thickness, stratification, hydraulic properties);
 - (D) aquifer types;
 - (E) groundwater flow and direction, including estimated recharge and discharge areas;
 - (F) all existing uses of groundwater proposed to be reclassified, including high potential risk activities and moderate potential risk activities; and
 - (G) potential sources causing or contributing to contamination.
 - (3) A map of the proposed reclassification area delineated on a United States Geological Survey topographic map at a scale of 1:24,000, or at a scale that gives greater detail. The map shall include the following items:
 - (A) legend, graphical scale bar, north arrow, and the base map source;
 - (B) boundaries of the proposed reclassification area;
 - (C) property lines and SPANs, within the reclassification area and for all properties adjacent to the properties on which the proposed reclassification area extends;
 - (D) roads, within the proposed reclassification area and within 300 feet of the proposed boundaries;

- (E) surface waters, with identified classification if available, and any mapped outstanding resource water (e.g., vernal pools and wetlands) as shown on the Agency of Natural Resources Atlas, within the proposed reclassification area and within 300 feet of the proposed boundaries;
- (F) existing groundwater withdrawal locations, including public water sources and sources of water for potable water supplies, and the well tags and Vermont State Plane northing and easting coordinates associated with such locations, within the proposed reclassification area and within 300 feet of the proposed boundaries;
- (G) monitoring wells and well identification numbers, within the proposed reclassification area and within 300 feet of the proposed boundaries.
- (4) A digital Geographic Information System (GIS) shapefile, in the Vermont State Plane Coordinate System, that delineates the boundaries of the proposed reclassification area.
- (5) A narrative description of the following:
 - (A) the current groundwater quality within the proposed reclassification area, including at points of compliance;
 - (B) consequences of potential contamination of the groundwater;
 - (C) quantity of groundwater within the area proposed for reclassification and availability in quantities needed for public trust uses;
 - (D) availability of alternate sources of water;
 - (E) existing uses of groundwater within the proposed reclassification area, including high potential risk activities and moderate potential risk activities; and
 - (F) method used to delineate the boundaries of the area proposed to be reclassified and justification for the method.
- (6) Compilation of all data available to the petitioner that documents the elements identified above or otherwise demonstrates the need for reclassification. This may include, but is not limited to, field data, published reports including previously submitted reports, and previously submitted permit applications. All materials shall be provided in pdf text searchable files or a compatible format. The Secretary may request data in a spreadsheet format.

(7) Listing of names and contact information for all landowners of properties within the proposed classification area and adjoining landowners, indexed with the properties' SPANs. For the purposes of this Section, the term adjoining landowner includes a landowner of property that either shares a property boundary with a tract of land on which the proposed reclassification area extends or is adjacent to a tract of land on which the proposed reclassification area extends and is separated only by a river, stream, or public highway from that tract of land.

§ 12-504 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REQUIRED

- (a) For petitions to reclassify groundwater to Class I, the following additional information shall be included in the petition for reclassification:
 - (1) Location of the proposed, permitted, or existing public water sources upon which the boundaries of the proposed reclassification area are based.
 - (2) An investigation of the area proposed to be reclassified showing that no high potential risk activities or moderate potential risk activities take place within the proposed boundaries of the reclassification area.
 - (3) A description of why there are no existing threats to the current or potential use of groundwater in the area of the proposed reclassification as a public water source, including a description of how the petitioner will protect such current or potential use through the acquisition of real property, easements, municipal zoning, or other means.
 - (4) Documentation that the proposed reclassification area:
 - (A) contains a permitted or existing public water source; or
 - (B) has a high probability for use as a public water source, which shall include the following:
 - (i) projected maximum demand figure for each proposed public water source upon which the boundaries of the proposed reclassification area are based; and
 - (ii) a hydrogeologic study indicating that the area proposed for reclassification could reasonably meet each projected public water source demand.
 - (5) Documentation of the uniformly excellent water quality throughout the proposed reclassification area.
 - (6) Documentation identifying and explaining how reclassification to Class I is consistent with:

		N.	

- (A) any municipal or regional plan provisions that address the quality or use of groundwater or the long-range management of groundwater resources;
- (B) any provisions of an overlay district established by a municipality pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 4414(2) for the protection of aquifers; and
- (C) any provisions of an approved source protection plan.
- (b) For petitions to reclassify groundwater to Class II, the following additional information shall be included in the petition for reclassification:
 - (1) Location of the proposed, permitted, or existing public water sources upon which the boundaries of the proposed reclassification area are based.
 - (2) An investigation of the area proposed to be reclassified showing that no high potential risk activities take place within the proposed boundaries of the reclassification area.
 - (3) An identification of potential threats to the current or potential use of groundwater in the area of the proposed reclassification as a public water source, including a description of how the petitioner will protect such current or potential use from the threat of future harm through the acquisition of real property, easements, municipal zoning, or other means.
 - (4) Documentation that the proposed reclassification area:
 - (A) contains a permitted or existing public water source; or
 - (B) has a high probability for use as a public water source, which shall include the following:
 - (i) the documented projected maximum demand figure for each proposed public water source upon which the boundaries of the proposed reclassification area are based; and
 - (ii) a hydrogeologic study indicating that the area proposed for reclassification could reasonably meet each projected public water source demand.
 - (5) Documentation of the uniform excellent water quality throughout the proposed reclassification area.
 - (6) Documentation identifying and explaining how reclassification to Class II is consistent with:

- (A) any municipal or regional plan provisions that address the quality or use of groundwater or the long-range management of groundwater resources;
- (B) any provisions of an overlay district established by a municipality pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 4414(2) for the protection of aquifers; and
- (C) any provisions of an approved source protection plan.
- (c) For petitions to reclassify groundwater to Class IV, the following additional information shall be included in the petition for reclassification:
 - (1) Identification of the substances in the groundwater that are in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at a point of compliance, including an identification of the source or sources that are causing or contributing to the exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards.
 - (2) A description of the fate and transport of the substances in the groundwater that are in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at a point of compliance, including:
 - (A) the extent of the area contaminated with substances in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards;
 - (B) a description of the stability of each contaminant plume (stable, declining, expanding)
 - (C) any projected expansion of the substances for five years after the date of the petition;
 - (D) any projected retreat of the substances for five years after the date of the petition; and
 - (E) the distribution of substances in the groundwater, soil, and bedrock as appropriate including:
 - (i) the distribution of the substances in aqueous, non-aqueous, sorbed, and vapor phases; and
 - (ii) any other site specific data as appropriate to demonstrate the extent of the contamination and the long term fate and transport of the substances in the subsurface including:
 - (I) vertical distribution of contamination by the substances in the groundwater;

- (II) horizontal and vertical hydraulic gradients in groundwater;
- (III) chemical mass transfer flux between geologic units if this information is available;
- (IV) chemical degradation rates if available;
- (V) chemical degradation byproducts if available; and
- (VI) chemical mass flux to any surface water bodies if applicable.
- (d) For petitions to reclassify groundwater from Class IV to Class III, the following additional information shall be included in the petition for reclassification:
 - (1) Information demonstrating that actions authorized in a remediation plan required pursuant to Section 12-607 of this Rule have successfully reduced the contamination to eliminate exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards within the area proposed to be reclassified.
- (e) The Secretary may require additional information necessary for the Secretary to make a final reclassification decision.

§ 12-505 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

- (a) Notice of petition.
 - (1) Following receipt of an administratively complete petition to reclassify groundwater, the Secretary shall provide notice of receipt of the petition and a copy of the petition through the Environmental Notice Bulletin.
 - (2) Within 7 calendar days of the Secretary's determination that the petition is administratively complete, the petitioner shall provide notice of the petition on a form developed by the Secretary that includes, at a minimum, instructions on how to access the petition through the Environmental Notice Bulletin and continue to receive notices and information concerning the petition, that is sent to the following persons by U.S. mail:
 - (A) the town clerk for each municipality in which the groundwater proposed for reclassification is located;
 - (B) the regional planning commission for each municipality in which the groundwater proposed for reclassification is located; and
 - (C) each landowner identified pursuant to Section 12-503(c)(7) of this Rule.

- (3) Within 7 calendar days of the Secretary's determination that the petition is administratively complete, the petitioner shall also provide notice of the petition to the general public by publishing an announcement in a newspaper of general circulation in each municipality in which the groundwater proposed for reclassification is located which includes the name and e-mail or mailing address for the petitioner, a brief description of the proposed reclassification, and instructions on how to access the petition through the Environmental Notice Bulletin and continue to receive notices and information concerning the petition.
- (b) Draft decision, Public comment period, and Public informational meeting.
 - (1) When the Secretary has issued a draft decision on a petition to reclassify groundwater, the Secretary shall provide notice of the draft decision and a copy of the draft decision through the Environmental Notice Bulletin. The draft decision shall include a draft reclassification order, if applicable.
 - (2) In association with the notice of the draft decision, Secretary shall provide a public comment period for no less than 30 calendar days.
 - (3) Any person may request a public informational meeting within 14 calendar days of the notice of the draft decision. The Secretary shall hold a public informational meeting whenever any person files a written request for such a meeting. If no person requests a public informational meeting, the Secretary may hold such a meeting at his or her discretion.
 - (4) When a public informational meeting is held, the Secretary shall provide at least 14 calendar days' notice of the location, date, and time of the public informational meeting through the Environmental Notice Bulletin. The public comment period shall be extended such that it does not end until at least 7 days following the public informational meeting.

(c) Final decision.

- (1) When the Secretary has issued a final decision on a petition to reclassify groundwater, the Secretary shall provide notice of the final decision, a copy of the final decision, and a response to comments through the Environmental Notice Bulletin. The final decision shall include a final reclassification order, if applicable.
- (2) When a decision reclassifies groundwater to Class IV, the Secretary shall provide notice to all Vermont licensed well drillers.
- (d) Consultation with the groundwater coordinating committee.

- (1) The Secretary may solicit comments from the groundwater coordinating committee on a petition prior to issuing a draft decision.
- (2) The Secretary may solicit comments from the groundwater coordinating committee during the public comment period.
- (3) The Secretary shall give comments of the committee due consideration.

§ 12-506 RECLASSIFICATION DECISION

- (a) Reclassification decision. The draft and final decisions on the petition to reclassify groundwater shall contain the following:
 - (1) The Secretary's affirmative findings on the following:
 - (A) That the factual information provided in accordance with the requirements of Sections 12-503 and 12-504 of this Rule adequately supports the petition for reclassification.
 - (B) If reclassification of groundwater to Class I, that the groundwater contains a permitted or existing public water source or has high probability for use as a public water source, that the character is uniformly excellent, and that there is no exposure to activities that pose a risk to its current or potential use as a public water source.
 - (C) If reclassification of groundwater to Class II, that the groundwater contains a permitted or existing public water source or has a high probability for use as a public water source and that its character is uniformly excellent despite exposure to activities that may pose a risk to its current or potential use as a public water source.
 - (D) If reclassification of groundwater to Class I or II, such reclassification is consistent with:
 - (i) any municipal or regional plan provisions that address the quality or use of groundwater or the long-range management of groundwater resources;
 - (ii) any provisions of an overlay district established by a municipality pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 4414(2) for the protection of aquifers; and
 - (iii) any provisions of an approved source protection plan.

- (E) If reclassification of groundwater to Class III, that the groundwater is suitable as a source of water for a potable water supply, irrigation, agricultural use, and general industrial and commercial use.
- (F) If reclassification of groundwater to Class IV, that the groundwater is not suitable as a source of water for a potable water supply, provided the Secretary may authorize, subject to conditions, use as a source of potable water supply or other use under a reclassification order issued for the aquifer.
- (2) A map in digital format that clearly delineates the boundaries of the reclassified area and includes a description of the area. The boundaries shall be identified on the map in a manner that allows for easy location at the site (e.g., using natural features, straight lines, placed monuments, property lines).
- (b) Legislative approval for select reclassifications pursuant to 10 V.S.A. § 1394(f). No classification of groundwater that involves privately owned land to Class I shall take effect until approved by an Act of the Vermont General Assembly. No reclassification of groundwater from Class I to another class shall take effect until approved by an Act of the Vermont General Assembly.

SUBCHAPTER 6 – STANDARDS; BACKGROUND GROUNDWATER QUALITY; PREVENTIVE AND CORRECTIVE ACTIONS

§ 12-601 ESTABLISHMENT OF GROUNDWATER ENFORCEMENT STANDARDS

- (a) The Secretary adopts and establishes the groundwater enforcement standards contained in Appendix One.
- (b) When a compliance point is a receptor that is a public water source or a source of water for a potable water supply, the Vermont Action Level established by the Department of Health and contained in Appendix One shall apply in lieu of the groundwater enforcement standard and operate as that standard for the purposes of this Rule for the compliance point.

§ 12-602 ESTABLISHMENT OF PREVENTIVE ACTION LEVELS

In order to provide early warning of a potential exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards, a preventive action level contained in Appendix One has been adopted and established for each groundwater enforcement standard.

- (1) For all substances that have carcinogenic, mutagenic, or developmental toxicity properties, as established by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency or determined by the Vermont Department of Health, the preventive action level is 10% of the groundwater enforcement standard, adjusted for analytical laboratory reporting limits.
- (2) The preventive action level for all other listed substances is 50% of the groundwater enforcement standard, adjusted for analytical laboratory reporting limits.

§ 12-603 ESTABLISHMENT OF COMPLIANCE POINTS

- (a) A single activity may have multiple compliance points.
- (b) Activities, except wastewater systems and indirect discharge systems, shall have the following compliance points:
 - (1) any point of present use of groundwater, including use as a public water source or as a source of water for potable water supplies;
 - (2) the boundary of a Class I, Class II, or Class IV groundwater area;
 - (3) zone two of a public water source protection area; and
 - (4) any point at the boundary of the property where the activity is located.
- (c) Wastewater systems shall have the following compliance points:

- (1) the boundary of a Class I, Class II, or Class IV groundwater area; and
- (2) any point on the boundary of the wastewater system presumptive isolation zone as defined in the Wastewater System and Potable Water Supply Rules.
- (d) Indirect discharge systems shall have the following compliance points:
 - (1) the boundary of a Class I, Class II, or Class IV groundwater area; and
 - (2) any point 150 feet upgradient from a leachfield or sprayfield or land application area and any point 300 feet downgradient from a leachfield or sprayfield or land application area, as measured from:
 - (A) for a leachfield in a mound, the corners of the basal area of the mound;
 - (B) for a leachfield not in a mound, the corners of the leachfield stone or other application surface; and
 - (C) for a sprayfield or land application area, the edges of the disposal area or the land application area.
- (e) For contaminated sites managed pursuant to the Investigation and Remediation of Contaminated Sites Rule or corrective actions under§ 12-607 of this rule, the Secretary may use the following alternative compliance points as an alternative to the compliance point established in subsection (b)(4) of this section:
 - (1) the opposite bank of a watercourse as defined by 10 V.S.A. § 1002(22) to the property where the release occurred where the surface water does not exceed Vermont Water Quality Criteria and the groundwater does not migrate under the surface water body and exceed standards on the opposite bank; or
 - (2) the furthest boundary of a road right of way adjacent to the property where the release occurred.
- (f) In addition to the compliance points established pursuant to Subsection (b), the following activities shall have the following additional compliance points:
 - (1) For an active certified solid waste landfill operational unit: no more than 150 meters from the edge of the liner in the hydraulically down-gradient direction.
 - (2) For certified hazardous waste treatment or disposal facilities, including waste piles, landfills, and surface impoundments: the edge of the regulated activity.
 - (3) For injection wells: a case-by-case determination.

- (4) For underground storage tanks: outside of the underground tank system.
- (g) The Secretary may, and a person may petition the Secretary to, modify the horizontal distances and associated compliance points identified in Subsection (b), (c), or (d) on a case-by-case basis.
 - (1) The Secretary may adopt or approve an increase or decrease to the horizontal distance if the Secretary determines, taking into account the characteristics identified in Subsection (f)(3), that the increase or decrease will not result in potential exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards or that the increase or decrease is necessary in order to protect an existing use of groundwater.
 - (2) The Secretary shall not approve an increase to the horizontal distance that would allow a compliance point to be located beyond the boundary of the property on which the activity is located.
 - (3) The petitioner seeking a modification to the horizontal distance shall provide the Secretary with information on all of the following characteristics and evidence that the proposed change will not result in potential exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards at a point of any existing use of groundwater:
 - (A) site topography;
 - (B) nature, thickness, and permeability of unconsolidated materials;
 - (C) nature and permeability of bedrock;
 - (D) groundwater depth, flow direction, and velocity;
 - (E) volume, type, and characteristics of potential sources that may result in contamination, including waste loading;
 - (F) mobility of substances that cause or contribute to contamination;
 - (G) distances to property boundaries and surface waters;
 - (H) engineering design of the activity;
 - (I) life span of the activity;
 - (J) present use of land and groundwater; and
 - (K) potential abatement options if the groundwater enforcement standards are exceeded.

(4) The Secretary may request additional information from the petitioner when the Secretary determines such information would aid in the determination of whether modification to the horizontal distance would result in potential exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards or is necessary in order to protect an existing use of groundwater.

§ 12-604 PERMITTING PROHIBITIONS

- (a) The Secretary shall not permit an activity that will result in an exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at points of compliance, except as indicated in Subsection (b).
- (b) The Secretary shall not authorize a remediation plan required pursuant to Section 12-607 of this Rule, or a corrective action plan required pursuant to 10 V.S.A. § 6615b, that permits activities that will result in an exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at a point of compliance or otherwise adversely affect an existing use of groundwater, unless it is technically impractical to achieve complete remediation of the substances for which the groundwater enforcement standards will be exceeded.
- (c) This section shall not apply to the regulation of per-and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in the following Rules:
 - (1) Indirect Discharge Rule (sewage permits only);
 - (2) Stormwater Management Rule;
 - (3) Stormwater Management Rule for Stormwater-Impaired Waters; and
 - (4) Wastewater System and Potable Water Supply Rules (for wastewater systems only).

§ 12-605 BACKGROUND GROUNDWATER QUALITY

- (a) Application for determining background groundwater quality. A person seeking to establish background groundwater quality, in a particular area, for a substance for which a groundwater enforcement standard has been established shall submit the following to the Secretary for the Secretary's review and approval, prior to conducting sampling:
 - (1) Information describing the aquifer structure and groundwater flow regime developed by a qualified hydrogeologist, utilizing information from current and historic federal, state, and municipal data sources, and identifying, modeling, and addressing the following site components within the for the area of interest:

- (A) bedrock and surficial geology (e.g. rock type, depositional environment);
- (B) geological structure (e.g. fracture pattern, jointing, lineaments);
- (C) soils (e.g. thickness, stratification, hydraulic properties);
- (D) aquifer types;
- (E) groundwater flow, including estimated recharge and discharge areas;
- (F) all existing uses of groundwater proposed to be reclassified, including high potential risk activities and moderate potential risk activities; and
- (G) potential sources causing or contributing to contamination.
- (2) A sampling and monitoring plan prepared by a qualified hydrogeologist that will produce data representative of the groundwater quality conditions at and around the area of interest. The plan shall identify, at a minimum, the following:
 - (A) the number of monitoring wells that will be sampled;
 - (B) the location and depth of the monitoring wells, which shall be selected so as to be geologically and geochemically similar to the area of interest and to be unaffected by current and historic activities at the site, including by being hydrogeologically upgradient of such activities if possible;
 - (C) the number and frequency of the samples to be taken from the monitoring wells and any existing sources of water for potable water supplies, public water sources, or non-potable wells or springs;
 - (D) the sampling methodology;
 - (E) the substances to be analyzed in the samples that are collected;
 - (F) the analytical methods to be used in conducting the sample analysis;
 - (G) identification of whether samples obtained prior to the approval of the monitoring plan will be used as data points and, if so, the sampling date, location, method of analysis for each of the samples to be used; and
 - (H) a quality assurance/quality control plan for sample collection, testing, and analysis.
- (3) The Secretary may request additional information from an applicant when the Secretary determines that the sampling and monitoring plan may not provide data representative of the groundwater quality at and around the area of interest.

- (b) Following the Secretary's approval of the information submitted pursuant to Subsection (a)(1) and of the sampling and monitoring plan, as well as the completion of sampling, the person seeking to establish background groundwater quality shall submit a background groundwater quality report to the Secretary. The report shall include the following:
 - (1) All sampling results and data collected pursuant to the approved monitoring and sampling plan.
 - (2) An analysis of all data collected pursuant to the approved monitoring and sampling plan.
 - (3) Any discrepancies between the approved sampling and monitoring plan and the sampling completed for the area of interest.
 - (4) A proposed background groundwater concentration of all substances for which the person seeks to establish background groundwater quality and a justification for each concentration. The justification may include statistical analysis.
 - (5) Additional information the Secretary determines is necessary to approve or deny the proposed background groundwater concentrations.
- (c) Following submission of the background groundwater quality report to the Secretary, the Secretary shall approve or deny the proposed background groundwater concentrations or may establish alternative background groundwater concentrations based on the background groundwater quality report. The Secretary may consult with the groundwater coordinating committee prior to making a final determination regarding background groundwater concentrations.

§ 12-606 PREVENTIVE ACTIONS

- (a) If groundwater monitoring indicates the presence in groundwater of a substance in an amount exceeding the preventive action level at a compliance point that a permitted activity is causing or contributing to, the permittee shall, within 45 calendar days of the detection, submit to the Secretary a report that includes:
 - (1) a description of the potential sources of the substance and causes of any exceedance of the preventive action levels;
 - (2) identification of the substances detected and their detection limits;
 - (3) copies of all sampling data;

- (4) a description of the reliability of the sampling data, including the quality of the sampling data, sampling procedures, precision and accuracy of the analytical test, size of the data set, and quality control and quality assurance procedures used;
- (5) recommendations regarding whether any actions should be taken to prevent an exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at a compliance point; and
- (6) identification of any background groundwater concentration approved by the Secretary pursuant to Section 12-605 of this Rule.
- (b) The Secretary may:
 - (1) Request additional information.
 - (2) Require the permitee to take such actions as the Secretary determines to be necessary to prevent exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards.
- (c) In determining what actions to require, the Secretary shall consider any background groundwater concentration approved by the Secretary pursuant to Section 12-605 of this Rule.

§ 12-607 CORRECTIVE ACTIONS

- (a) If groundwater monitoring indicates contamination at a compliance point that a permitted activity is causing or contributing to, the permittee shall:
 - (1) Immediately notify the Secretary of the detection.
 - (2) Within 10 calendar days following the detection, submit to the Secretary an initial report that includes:
 - (A) a description of the potential sources of contamination and causes of any exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards;
 - (B) identification of the substances detected and their detection limits; and
 - (C) the known impacts on groundwater.
 - (3) Within 30 calendar days, or alternative time period approved by the Secretary, following the detection, submit to the Secretary a supplemental report that includes:
 - (A) Copies of all sampling data.

- (B) A description of the reliability of the sampling data, including the quality of the sampling data, sampling procedures, precision and accuracy of the analytical test, size of the data set, and quality control and quality assurance procedures used.
- (C) A description of the human health and environmental impact of the detection, including the substance's mobility in the subsurface, environmental fate, risk posed by the substance, whether the substance has carcinogenic, mutagenic, or developmental toxicity properties, and whether the substance has interactive effects with other substances.
- (D) An evaluation addressing each of the following and that the Secretary may require be completed by an independent consultant: the effectiveness of the activity as permitted, including any conditions of the permit, in preventing contamination; an evaluation of whether the activity, as designed, constructed, and operated, is performing in accordance with the permit and governing law; and an evaluation of whether design or operational changes would reduce the concentration of the substance in the groundwater.
- (E) Identification of any background groundwater concentration approved by the Secretary pursuant to Section 12-605 of this Rule for the substance and analysis of whether background conditions are causing or contributing to the exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards at a point of compliance.
- (F) Identification of the presence of other potential sources of contamination.
- (G) A description of the geologic and hydrogeologic conditions at the site, including the nature, thickness, and permeability of the unconsolidated materials; the nature and permeability of the bedrock; the depth to the water table; groundwater flow gradients, both vertical and horizontal; and the position of the activity within the groundwater flow system.
- (H) Identification of all existing uses of groundwater in the vicinity of the activity, a visual survey of uses in the vicinity of the activity, and an identification of all receptors in the vicinity of the activity that could potentially be affected.
- (I) Identification of permitted activities in the vicinity of the activity.
- (J) A copy of the petition to reclassify groundwater to Class IV if the person has submitted, or the Secretary has directed the person to submit, such a petition pursuant to Section 12-503 of this Rule.
- (K) Any other information that the Secretary deems necessary to ensure an appropriate response is required for the exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards.

- (b) Based on the nature and degree of the substance that is in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards, and the possible receptors of the contaminated groundwater, the Secretary may require the permittee to take immediate actions to abate the risk to human health or the environment. These actions may include ceasing the activity involved; providing alternative sources of drinking water; providing treatment for affected sources of water for potable water supplies and public water sources; conducting a response action to contain the release; installation of monitoring wells; and the collection of additional samples.
- (c) Based on an evaluation of all information available to the Secretary, including the initial and supplemental reports, the Secretary shall determine whether any response to the detection, beyond any immediate actions required pursuant to Subsection (b), is required in order to remediate the contamination to eliminate exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards.
 - (1) The Secretary may determine that the permittee is not required to undertake additional responsive actions:
 - (A) if the permittee demonstrates, to the satisfaction of the Secretary, that the detection of the substance in exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standards is solely attributable to a background groundwater concentration approved by the Secretary pursuant to Section 12-605 of this Rule and that the person's actions did not cause or contribute to the detected levels; or
 - (B) if the permittee demonstrates, to the satisfaction of the Secretary, that the detection is solely attributable to a source not under the control of the person and that the person's actions did not cause or contribute to the detected levels.
 - (2) Unless the Secretary determines, pursuant to Subsection (c)(1), that no additional responsive actions are necessary, the Secretary shall require the permittee to implement a remediation plan with the goals of eliminating exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standards at points of compliance and enabling the groundwater to be classified as Class III.
 - (A) The Secretary may require the following actions as part of the remediation plan:
 - (i) installation of new or additional monitoring wells or alternative contaminant investigation methodologies;
 - (ii) change in the monitoring program, including increased monitoring;
 - (iii) investigation of the extent of contamination;
 - (iv) change in the operation of the activity;

- (v) modification in the design of the activity;
- (vi) adoption of alternate method of waste treatment or disposal;
- (vii) ceasing of the activity or closure and abandonment of the activity;
- (viii) implementation of corrective action to restore groundwater quality:
- (ix) removal of contaminated soils;
- (x) submission of appropriate permit or permit amendment applications if permits or permit amendments are required for any of these responsive actions;
- (xi) submission of a petition to reclassify groundwater to Class IV; and
- (xii) any other action necessary to remediate the contamination.
- (B) The Secretary may authorize actions as part of the remediation plan that may result in continued exceedances of the groundwater enforcement standard if the Secretary determines that the action will not adversely affect an existing use of groundwater and that it is technically impractical to achieve complete remediation of the contamination.
- (C) For activities subject to the Investigation and Remediation of Contaminated Properties Rule, the remediation plan may take the form of a corrective action plan required pursuant to 10 V.S.A. § 6615b.
- (d) If the Secretary determines that the source of the contamination and cause of the exceedance of the groundwater enforcement standard is an action not subject to this Rule, the Secretary shall:
 - (1) Notify the appropriate local, State, or Federal authorities of the action and submit evidence demonstrating the action is causing or contributing to the exceedance.
 - (2) Cooperate with the appropriate local, State, or Federal Authorities in determining the appropriate response.
- (e) Notwithstanding the timeframes established by this Section, the Secretary and the person responsible for the activity may agree on an alternative timeframe for the submittal of a report.

APPENDIX ONE

Table 1: Groundwater Enforcement Standards, Vermont Action Levels, and Preventive Action Levels

Bolded values indicate values that have been revised or added since the December 16, 2016 Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy.

Substance	CAS No.		Vermoni Aetion Level	Preventive Avanon Level
		Sandard		
		NA\TNO)3 <u>9</u> /L(⁽ⁱⁱ⁾	ng/LP)
Acetone	67-64-1	950		475
Alachlor	15972-60-8	2		0.2
Aldicarb	116-06-3	1 ^(b)		1 ^(c)
Aldicarb sulfone	1646-88-4	1 ^(b)		1 ^(c)
Aldicarb sulfoxide	1646-87-3	1 ^(b)		1 ^(c)
Aldrin	309-00-2	0.1		0.1
Aminoethyl ethanolamine (AEEA)	111-41-1	20		2
Ammonium sulfamate	7773-06-0	914		457
Anthracene	120-12-7	343		171
Antimony	7740-36-0	6		. 3
Arsenic	7440-38-2	10		1
Asbestos	1332-21-4	7E+6 fibers/L (longer than 10μm)		7E+5 fibers/L (longer than 10μm)
Atrazine	1912-24-9	3		2
Barium	7440-39-3	2000		1000
Bendiocarb	22781-23-3	2		1

Substance	CAS No.	Groundwater Enforcement Semiard	Wennoni Acton Level	Preventive Action Level
		pg/L(a)	mg(L(a)	TIGNE(E)
Benomyl	17804-35-2	10		1
Benzene	71-43-2	5	0.5	0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene	50-32-8	0.2		0.1
Beryllium	7440-41-7	4		1
Beta particle and photon radioactivity	N/A	4 millirems/yr		50 pCi/L ^(d)
Bis(2-chloro-1-methyl ethyl) ether	108-60-1	46	·.	5
Boron	7440-42-8	870		87
Bromacil	314-40-9	111		11
Bromochloromethane	74-97-5	8		0.8
Bromomethane (Methyl bromide)	74-83-9	5		0.5
Butylate	2008-41-5	114		57
Cadmium	7440-43-9	5		1
Carbofuran	1563-66-2	40		20
Carbon tetrachloride	56-23-5	5	0.5	0.5
Chloramben	133-90-4	69		34
Chlordane	12789-03-6	2		0.44
Chlorine	7782-50-5	4000		2000
Chlorobenzene	108-90-7	100		50
Chlorpyrifos	2921-88-2	20		10
Chromium (total)	7440-47-3	100		50
Copper	7440-50-8	1300		650

Subsence	CAS No	Gronniyater Balareament	Vermont Accion Level	Preventive
		Sandard pg/L ^(b)	Tr8/C(1)	pev(co)
Cyanazine	21725-46-2	1		0.5
Cyanide	143-33-9	200		100
Dalapon	75-99-0	200		100
Dazomet	533-74-4	88		44
Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate	103-23-1	400		200
Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate	117-81-7	6		3
Diazinon	333-41-5	0.6		0.3
Dibromochloropropane	96-12-8	0.2	0.02	0.02
Dichlorobenzene (meta)	541-73-1	600		300
Dichlorobenzene (ortho)	95-50-1	600		300
Dichlorobenzene (para)	106-46-7	75		38
Dichloroethane (1,1)	75-34-3	70		35
Dichloroethane (1,2)	107-06-2	5 .	0.5	0.5
Dichloroethene (1,1)	75-35-4	7		0.7
Dichloroethene (cis-1,2)	156-59-2	70		35
Dichloroethene (trans-1,2)	156-60-5	100		50
Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4)	94-75-7	70		7
Dichloroprop	120-36-5	140		14
Dichloropropane (1,2)	78-87-5	5	0.5	0.5
Dieldrin	60-57-1	0.02		0.02
Diethylenetriamine (DETA)	111-40-0	5154		515

Substance	CAS No.	Gronidveter Vermad Inlacement Acharles Senderd	Preventive
		rig(r _{in)} rig(r _{in)}	ig/L(a)
Dimethrin	70-38-2	2000	1000
Dinoseb	88-85-7	7	0.7
Dioxane (1,4)	123-91-1	0.3	0.3
Diphenamid	957-51-7	200	100
Diquat	85-00-7	20	10
Disulfoton	298-04-4	0.3	0.03
Diuron	330-54-1	10	5
Endothall	145-73-3	100	50
Endrin	72-20-8	2	1.
Erioglaucine	2650-18-2	7211	3606
Ethylbenzene	100-41-4	700	350
Ethylene dibromide	106-93-4	0.05	0.01
Fenamiphos	22224-92-6	2	1
Fluoranthene	206-44-0	46	23
Fluorene	86-73-7	46	23
Fluoride	7681-49-4	4000	2000
Fonofos	944-22-9	10	5
Formaldehyde	50-00-0	1000	100
Glyphosate	1071-83-6	700	70
Gross Alpha (adjusted)(e)	NA	15 pCi/L	5 pCi/L
Halofenozide	112226-61-6	46	23

Substance	CAS No.	Grannibvitar Enforcament Skinisiri	Vərmən: Ağılan Level	Pressitive Asion Level
		inal/T _(a)	TIB <u>V</u> F(3)	ug/L ^{p)}
Heptachlor	76-44-8	0.4		0.088
Heptachlor epoxide	1024-57-3	0.2		0.06
Hexachlorobenzene	118-74-1	1	0.1	0.1
Hexachlorocyclopentadiene	77-47-4	50		25
Hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX)	121-82-4	0.3		0.3
Hexafluoropropylene Oxide Dimer Acid (HFPO-DA or GenX)	13252-13-6	0.010 ^(f)		0.0020
Lead	7439-92-1	15	1.0	2
Lindane	58-89-9	0.2		0.1
Maneb	12427-38-2	35		18
Manganese	7439-96-5	300	· 	150
Mercury (inorganic)	7487-94-7	2		0.5
Methoxychlor	72-43-5	40		4
Methyl ethyl ketone	78-93-3	511		255
Methyl parathion	298-00-0	2		1
Methyl tert butyl ether (MTBE)	1634-04-4	11		5
Methylene chloride	75-09-2	5		0.5
Metolachlor	51218-45-2	70		35
Molybdenum	7439-98-7	6		3
Naphthalene	91-20-3	0.5		0.5
Nickel	7440-02-0	100		50

Supanie	CASTO	inemessoimi	Vermonti- leved mais/a	Preventire Action Level
		Senieri ng/Lo	11g/L(ta)	11.2/ (L ^{, (2)})
Nitrate (as N)	14797-55-8	10000	У	5000
Nitrates/Nitrites (total)	NA	10000		5000
Nitrite (as N)	14797-65-0	1000		500
O-Phenylphenol	90-43-7	764		76
Octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro- 1,2,3,5,7- tetrazocine (HMX)	2691-41-0	57		29
Oxamyl	23135-22-0	200		100
Paraquat	1910-42-5	30		3
Pentachlorophenol	87-86-5	1	0.1	0.1
Pentaerythriol tetranitrate (PETN)	78-11-5	2		1
Perchlorate	1479-73-0	2		1
Perfluorohexane sulfonic acid (PFHxS)	355-46-4	0.010		0.0020
Perfluorononanoic acid (PFNA)	375-95-1	0.010		0.0020
Perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS)	1763-23-1	0.0040		0.0020
Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA)	335-67-1	0.0040		0.0020
Picloram	1918-02-1	500		250
Polychlorinated Biphenyls	1336-36-3	0.5		0.25
Propachlor	1918-16-7	90		45
Propham	122-42-9	100		50
Radium226 & 228	7440-14-4	5 pCi/L		0.5 pCi/L
Radon	010043-92-2	4000 pCi/L		400 pCi/L

Šalskare	Cas No.	Caemidvater Inforsement Sandard	Vermont Action Level	Preventive
		ng/L ⁽ⁿ⁾	MBVF _(m)	JUSAL (C)
Selenium	7782-49-2	50		25
Simazine	122-34-9	4		2
Styrene	100-42-5	100		10
Tall oil hydroxyethyl imidazoline	61791-39-7	118		59
Tartrazine	1934-21-0	1905		952
Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (2,3,7,8)	1746-01-6	3.00E-05		1.10E-05
Tetrachloroethane (1,1,1,2)	630-20-6	70		35
Tetrachloroethylene	127-18-4	5	1	0.5
Thallium	7440-28-0	2		1 .
Toluene	108-88-3	1000		500
Toxaphene	8001-35-2	3		2
Trichlorobenzene (1,2,3)	87-61-6	0.9		0.5
Trichlorobenzene (1,2,4)	120-82-1	70		35
Trichloroethane (1,1,1)	71-55-6	200		100
Trichloroethane (1,1,2)	79-00-5	5		3
Trichloroethylene	79-01-6	5	0.5	0.5
Trichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4,5)	93-76-5	70		7
Trichlorophenoxypropionic acid (2,4,5)	93-72-1	50		25
Trichloropropane (1,2,3)	96-18-4	0.02		0.02
Triclopyr	55335-06-3	165		83

Substance	CAS No.	Groundwater Enforcement Standard	Vermont Action Level	Preventive Action Level
		μg/L ^(a)	μg/L ^(a)	μg/L ^(a)
Trimethyl benzene (1,2,3) (1,2,3-TMB)	526-73-8	23 ^{(f)(h)}		2(g)(i)
Trimethyl benzene (1,2,4) (1,2,4- TMB)	95-63-6	23 ^(h)		2 ⁽ⁱ⁾
Trimethyl benzene (1,3,5) (1,3,5-TMB)	108-67-8	23 ^{(f)(h)}		2(g)(i)
Trinitrotoluene (2,4,6) (TNT)	118-96-7	0.8		0.3
Uranium	7440-61-1	20		2
Vinyl chloride	75-01-4	2	0.5	0.5
Xylenes	1330-20-7	10000		5000
Zineb	142-14-3	350		175

PFAS Hazard Index

For a mixture of two or more of the PFAS identified below, the results shall be placed in the following formula and if the hazard index is greater than one, it shall be a violation of the groundwater enforcement standard:

$$\text{Hazard Index } = \left(\frac{[\text{GenX}_{\text{water}}]}{[\text{10 ppt}]}\right) + \left(\frac{[\text{PFBS}_{\text{water}}]}{[\text{2000 ppt}]}\right) + \left(\frac{[\text{PFNA}_{\text{water}}]}{[\text{10 ppt}]}\right) + \left(\frac{[\text{PFHxS}_{\text{water}}]}{[\text{10 ppt}]}\right)$$

There is not a preventative action level for this hazard index.

Notes:

- (a) All units are micrograms per Liter (μ g/L) (i.e., parts per billion (ppb)), unless otherwise noted.
- (b) Groundwater Enforcement Standard of 1 μ g/L for any combination of Aldicarb, Aldicarb sulfone and Aldicarb sulfoxide.
- (c) Preventive Action Level of 1 µg/L for any combination of Aldicarb, Aldicarb sulfone and Aldicarb sulfoxide.

- (d) Notwithstanding Section 12-602(1) and (2), the Preventive Action Level is based on the Safe Drinking Water Act monitoring requirements, not as a percentage of the Groundwater Enforcement Standard. See 40 C.F.R. §§ 141.16 and 141.26.
- (e) Adjusted Gross Alpha excludes Uranium and Radon.
- (f) Groundwater Enforcement Standard of 23 ug/L for any combination of 1,2,3-TMB, 1,2,4-TMB, and 1,3,5-TMB isomers.
- (g) Preventive Action Level of 2 ug/L for any combination of 1,2,3-TMB, 1,2,4-TMB, and 1,3,5-TMB isomers.

The Vermont Statutes Online

The Statutes below include the actions of the 2025 session of the General Assembly.

NOTE: The Vermont Statutes Online is an unofficial copy of the Vermont Statutes Annotated that is provided as a convenience.

Title 10: Conservation and Development

Chapter 048: Groundwater Protection

Subchapter 002 : GENERAL

(Cite as: 10 V.S.A. § 1392)

§ 1392. Duties; powers of Secretary

- (a) The Secretary shall develop a comprehensive groundwater management program to protect the quality of groundwater resources by:
- (1) developing a strategy for the management and protection of the State's groundwater resources;
 - (2) continuing studies and investigations of groundwater in the State;
- (3) cooperating with other government agencies in collecting and compiling data on the quantity and quality of groundwater and location of aquifers;
- (4) identifying and mapping groundwater currently used as public water supply sources and groundwater determined by the Secretary as potential future public water supply sources;
- (5) providing technical assistance to municipal officials and other public bodies in the development of regional or municipal plans or bylaws, the purpose of which is the protection of groundwater resources;
- (6) classifying groundwater resources according to the provisions of this chapter and adopting technical criteria and standards for the management of activities that may pose a risk to their beneficial uses;
- (7) integrating the groundwater management strategy with other regulatory programs administered by the Secretary;
 - (8) developing public information and education materials; and
- (9) cooperating with federal agencies in the development of programs for protecting the quality and quantity of the groundwater resources.

- (b) The Secretary is authorized to accept and administer grants for groundwater management purposes in accord with the administrative procedures of the State.
- (c)(1) The Secretary shall establish a groundwater coordinating committee, with representation from the Division of Drinking Water and Groundwater Protection within the Department, the Division of Geology and Mineral Resources within the Department, the Agency of Agriculture, Food and Markets, and the Departments of Forests, Parks and Recreation and of Health to provide advice in the development of the program and its implementation, on issues concerning groundwater quality and quantity, and on groundwater issues relevant to well-drilling activities.
- (2) In carrying out his or her duties under this subchapter, the Secretary shall give due consideration to the recommendations of the Groundwater Coordinating Committee.
- (3) The Secretary may request representatives of other agencies and the private sector, including licensed well drillers, to serve on the Groundwater Coordinating Committee.
- (d) The groundwater management strategy, including groundwater classification and associated technical criteria and standards, shall be adopted as a rule in accordance with the provisions of 3 V.S.A. chapter 25.
- (e) [Repealed.] (Added 1985, No. 53, § 1; amended 1989, No. 256 (Adj. Sess.), § 10(a), eff. Jan. 1, 1991; 1995, No. 189 (Adj. Sess.), § 3; 2003, No. 115 (Adj. Sess.), § 32, eff. Jan. 31, 2005; 2017, No. 55, § 7, eff. June 2, 2017; 2018, No. 2 (Sp. Sess.), § 1; 2021, No. 69, § 9, eff. June 8, 2021.)



Proposed Rules Postings A Service of the Office of the Secretary of State

- Vermont.gov
- · Feedback
- SOS Website
- APA Site
- · Code of Vermont Rules
- Recent
- Search Rules
- Calendar
- Subscribe
- APA Contact Info

Search Rules

Deadline For Public Comment

Deadline: Nov 14, 2025

The deadline for public comment has expired. Contact the agency or primary contact person listed below for assistance.

Rule Details

Rule Number:

25P036

Title:

Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy.

Type:

Standard

Status:

Proposed

Agency:

Agency of Natural Resources

Legal Authority:

10 V.S.A 1392(d)

The Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy is the framework the state uses to protect groundwater in permit programs and clean up groundwater when there is a release. This amendment proposes to adopt

more stringent standards adopted by EPA's 2024 Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) for five PFAS compounds (HFPO-DA,

Contaminant Level (MCL) for five PFAS compounds (HFPO-DA PFHxS, PFNA, PFOS, and PFOA) and a hazard index to address

Summary:

mixtures of two or more identified PFAS (HFPO-DA, PFBS, PFNA, PFHxS). This amendment proposes to not require the permitting review to apply to stormwater, indirect discharge (sewage), or wastewater and potable water supply (wastewater) rules and those programs would address the public trust and groundwater protection in their respective rules. It also makes minor changes to how compliance boundaries are

established for cleanups.

This rule will adopt more stringent standards for PFAS. As a result, more people who have released PFAS into the environment will be responsible for addressing impacts associated with the releases. In addition, more people exposed to PFAS contamination will have that

contamination treated, resulting in better health and well being

outcomes for those people.

Persons Affected:

This rule will adopt more stringent standards for PFAS. As a result, more people who have released PFAS into the environment will be

responsible for addressing impacts associated with the releases. In addition, more people exposed to PFAS contamination will have that contamination treated, resulting in better health and well being

outcomes for those people.

Posting date:

Economic Impact:

Oct 01,2025

Hearing Information

Information for Hearing #1

Hearing 11-04-2025 3:00 PM ADD TO YOUR CALENDAR

date:

Location: Catamount Conference Room, Davis Building

Address: 1 National Life Drive

City: **MOntpelier**

State: VT Zip:

05602

Also virtually via MS Teams at: https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-

Hearing join/193ameeting_NTM0MTRiMTEtZjIyNi00N2JILWE0NTYtN2UzNzNmMmU3MGY040thread.v2/0?

Notes: context7b22Tid223a2220b4933b-

baad-433c-9c02-70edcc7559c6222c22Oid223a22962624da-7373-46bd-8c7d-c7d40a984bf8227d

Information for Hearing #2

Hearing 11-04-2025 3:00 PM ADD TO YOUR CALENDAR

Location: Virtually via MS Teams

date:

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-

join/193ameeting_NTM0MTRiMTEtZjIyNi00N2JILWE0NTYtN2UzNzNmMmU3MGY040thread.v2/0?

context7b22Tid223a2220b4933b-

City: n/a State: VT

Zip: n/a

Virtually via MS Teams at: https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-

join/193ameeting_NTM0MTRiMTEtZjIyNi00N2JILWE0NTYtN2UzNzNmMmU3MGY040thread.v2/0?

Notes: context7b22Tid223a2220b4933b-

baad-433c-9c02-70edcc7559c6222c22Oid223a22962624da-7373-46bd-8c7d-c7d40a984bf8227d

Contact Information

Information for Primary Contact

PRIMARY CONTACT PERSON - A PERSON WHO IS ABLE TO ANSWER QUESTIONS ABOUT THE CONTENT OF THE RULE.

Level:

Primary

Name:

Matt Chapman

Agency:

Agency of Natural Resources

Address:

1 National Life Drive, Davis 1,

City:

Montpelier

State:

VT

Zip:

05620

Telephone:

802-249-4393

Fax:

Email:

matt.chapman@vermont.gov

SEMD A COMMENT

Website Address:

https://dec.vermont.gov/waste-management

VIEWWEREITE

Information for Secondary Contact

SECONDARY CONTACT PERSON - A SPECIFIC PERSON FROM WHOM COPIES OF FILINGS MAY BE REQUESTED OR WHO MAY ANSWER QUESTIONS ABOUT FORMS SUBMITTED FOR FILING IF DIFFERENT FROM THE PRIMARY CONTACT PERSON.

Level:

Secondary

Name:

Bryan Redmond

Agency:

Agency of Natural Resources

Address:

1 National Life Drive, Davis 1,

City:

Montpelier

State:

VT

Zip:

05620

Telephone:

802-585-4800

Fax:

Email:

bryan.redmond@vermont.gov

SEND A COMMENT

Keyword Information

Keywords:

PFAS

Groundwater Drinking Water

Back

Accessbility Policy | Privacy Policy

A Vermont Government Website Copyright 2025 State of Vermont



OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE VERMONT STATE ARCHIVES & RECORDS ADMINISTRATION (VSARA)

(802) 828-2863

то:	Seven Days Legals (<u>legals@sevendaysvt.com</u>)	Tel: (802) 865-1020 x110.
	The Caledonian Record Julie Poutré (adv@caledonian-record.com)	Tel: 748-8121 FAX: 748-1613
	Times Argus / Rutland Herald Classified Ads (classified.ads@rutlandherald.com)	Tel: 802-747-6121 ext 2238 FAX: 802-776-5600
	The Valley News (advertising@vnews.com)	Tel: 603-298-8711 FAX: 603-298-0212
	The Addison Independent (legals@addisonindependent.com)	Tel: 388-4944 FAX: 388-3100 Attn: Display Advertising
	The Bennington Banner / Brattleboro Reformer Lylah Wright (lwright@reformer.com)	Tel: 254-2311 ext. 132 FAX: 447-2028 Attn: Lylah Wright
	The Chronicle (ads@bartonchronicle.com)	Tel: 525-3531 FAX: 525-3200
	Herald of Randolph (<u>ads@ourherald.com</u>)	Tel: 728-3232 FAX: 728-9275 Attn: Brandi Comette
	Newport Daily Express (<u>ilafoe@newportvermontdailyexpress.com</u>)	Tel: 334-6568 FAX: 334-6891 Attn: Jon Lafoe
	News & Citizen (mike@stowereporter.com)	Tel: 888-2212 FAX: 888-2173
	St. Albans Messenger Legals (<u>legals@samessenger.com</u> ; <u>cfoley@orourkemediagroup.com</u>)	Tel: 524-9771 ext. 117 FAX: 527- 1948 Attn: Legals
	The Islander (islander@vermontislander.com)	Tel: 802-372-5600 FAX: 802-372-3025
	Vermont Lawyer (hunter.press.vermont@gmail.com)	Attn: Will Hunter

FROM: APA Coordinator, VSARA Date of Fax: December 9, 2025

RE: The "Proposed State Rules" ad copy to run on October 9, 2025

PAGES INCLUDING THIS COVER MEMO: 2

NOTE 8-pt font in body. 12-pt font max. for headings - single space body. Please include dashed lines where they appear in ad copy. Otherwise minimize the use of white space. Exceptions require written approval.

If you have questions, or if the printing schedule of your paper is disrupted by holiday etc. please contact VSARA at 802-828-3700, or E-Mail sos.statutoryfilings@vermont.gov, Thanks.

PROPOSED STATE RULES

By law, public notice of proposed rules must be given by publication in newspapers of record. The purpose of these notices is to give the public a chance to respond to the proposals. The public notices for administrative rules are now also available online at https://secure.vermont.gov/SOS/rules/. The law requires an agency to hold a public hearing on a proposed rule, if requested to do so in writing by 25 persons or an association having at least 25 members.

To make special arrangements for individuals with disabilities or special needs please call or write the contact person listed below as soon as possible.

To obtain further information concerning any scheduled hearing(s), obtain copies of proposed rule(s) or submit comments regarding proposed rule(s), please call or write the contact person listed below. You may also submit comments in writing to the Legislative Committee on Administrative Rules, State House, Montpelier, Vermont 05602 (802-828-2231).

Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy.

Vermont Proposed Rule: 25P036

AGENCY: Agency of Natural Resources

CONCISE SUMMARY: The Groundwater Protection Rule and Strategy is the framework the state uses to protect groundwater in permit programs and clean up groundwater when there is a release. This amendment proposes to adopt more stringent standards adopted by EPA's 2024 Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) for five PFAS compounds (HFPO-DA, PFHxS, PFNA, PFOS, and PFOA) and a hazard index to address mixtures of two or more identified PFAS (HFPO-DA, PFBS, PFNA, PFHxS). This amendment proposes to not require the permitting review to apply to stormwater, indirect discharge (sewage), or wastewater and potable water supply (wastewater) rules and those programs would address the public trust and groundwater protection in their respective rules. It also makes minor changes to how compliance boundaries are established for cleanups.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION, CONTACT: Matt Chapman, Agency of Natural Resources, 1 National Life Drive, Davis 1, Montpelier VT 05620 Tel: 802-249-4393 E-Mail: matt.chapman@vermont.gov URL: https://dec.vermont.gov/waste-management.

FOR COPIES: Bryan Redmond, Agency of Natural Resources, 1 National Life Drive, Davis 1 Montpelier VT 05620

Tel: 802-585-4800 E-Mail: bryan.redmond@vermont.gov.